

Efficacy of hand-mounted pressure sensors for in-water force analysis in high

performance swimmers

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of University of Stirling for the

degree of Master of Philosophy

Aria A. Pascual

August 2024

For my family,

because without them this degree

would not have been possible.

Contents

Declaration
Acknowledgementsvii
Abstract
List of Tablesx
List of Figuresx
Abbreviationsxi
1: INTRODUCTION 1
1.1. Overview of swimming1
1.2. Competitive swimming1
2: LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Overview of Competitive Swimming 3
2.1.1 Characteristics of competitive swimming
2.1.2 In-water performance characteristics4
2.2 Performance analysis in competitive swimming
2.2.1 Biomechanics in swimming, and kinetic analysis6
2.2.2 Evaluating velocity and force characteristics in start and turn performances
2.3 Methodologies investigating kinetic analysis in free-swimming phase
2.3.1 Assessment methodologies and relationship with drag force 10
2.3.2 Tethered swimming method for kinetic analysis12
2.3.3 Pressure sensors method for kinetic analysis14
2.4 Aims and Objectives15
3: METHODS

3.1 Participants	17
3.1.1 Anthropometric measurements	17
3.2 Procedures	17
3.2.1 Protocol	17
3.2.2 Anthropometrics	17
3.2.3 In-water Testing	18
3.2.4 Equipment	19
3.3 Data Analysis	20
3.4 Statistical Analysis	22
4: RESULTS	23
4.1 Descriptive analysis of swimming performance using Smart Paddle	,™23
4.2 Reliability of the Smart Paddle™	23
4.2.1 Reliability of the Smart Paddle™ during freestyle	23
4.2.2 Reliability of the Smart Paddle™ during backstroke	24
4.2.3 Reliability of the Smart Paddle™ during butterfly	24
4.3 Validity of the Smart Paddle™	30
4.3.1 Validity of the Smart Paddle™ during freestyle	30
4.3.2 Validity of the Smart Paddle™ during backstroke	31
4.3.3 Validity of the Smart Paddle™ during butterfly	32
4.4 Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™	33
4.4.1 Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™ during freestyle	33
4.3.2 Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™ during backstroke	33
4.3.3 Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™ during butterfly	33
5: DISCUSSION	42

5.1 Reliability of the Smart Paddle™	. 42
5.2 Validity of the Smart Paddle™	. 44
5.3 Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™	. 47
5.4. Potential Applications of the Smart Paddle™ for analysis of swimming	40
performance	48
5.5. Limitations and directions for future research	. 49
6: CONCLUSION.	. 51
6.1. Conclusion	51
7: REFERENCES	53

Declaration

I declare that the contents of this thesis are entirely my own work, and that the document was composed by myself under the supervision of Dr. Lewis Macgregor, Dr. James H. Dugdale, and Dr. Nidia Rodriguez-Sanchez. The experimental studies within this thesis were all approved by the University of Stirling cross-faculty ethics committees, and procedures were conducted as they were approved. Neither the thesis, nor the original work within have been submitted to this or any other institution towards a higher degree. This thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright and any material from the work of others included in this thesis are fully acknowledged in accordance with common reference practices.

Signed:



Aria A. Pascual

August 2024

The copyright of this thesis belongs to the author, under the terms of the United Kingdom copyright act, as qualified by the University of Stirling regulations. Due acknowledgement must always be made to the author when using any materials contained in or derived from this thesis.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr. Lewis Macgregor and Dr. James Dugdale for their ongoing support and guidance throughout the duration of my MPhil degree. Dr. Lewis Macgregor, whom I have known throughout my undergraduate degree has always been kind, helpful, and patient to my copious number of academic questions and Dr James Dugdale remaining uncompromised even when working from a different institution has been incredibly supportive and made himself available when I needed support, I thank you both.

Equally, I would like to thank the coaching staff, physiology team and swimming squad at the University of Stirling for agreeing to partake in the study. My special thanks go to Adrian Campbell and Murray Sheath for going above and beyond to accommodate my research and to take the time to upskill me and provide me with incredible hands-on analyst opportunities. I value the time I spent learning from you both and working with the staff of the high-performance team at University of Stirling.

I would also like to thank my teammates and coach at JKS Scotland Karate Dunfermline who always provide the best distraction from the stresses of academic life. I am surrounded by hard-working people who push me to be better every day, while also being there to escape from the day and to simply enjoy training and pushing my body to new limits in the sport I love so much.

Most importantly, I would like to thank my family and my loved ones – the most important people in my life. I could not have managed to balance my work, studies, training and competing without your support and unconditional love for me. I am lucky to have these people in my life who motivate me to be better, remind me to never settle for less, to be kind and that the coolest people are always the strange and unusual. A special thanks to my mum, who I would not have accomplished this without, there are not enough words to explain my gratitude to you, and I could not ask for anyone better to be my best friend.

Abstract

Introduction: Kinetic analysis in swimming is the quantification of propulsive force output which has potential to improve swimming efficiency and overall swimming performance. While the kinetic analysis of the start, turn, and finish phases of swimming performance are recognised and established in the literature, kinetic analysis of the free swim phase has previously been limited due to technological constraints. Aim: This study aimed to investigate the efficacy of the Smart Paddle™ for in-water, free swim force analysis across strokes in high performance swimmers by: 1) determining intra-day absolute and relative reliability of the Smart Paddle[™], 2) determining validity by objective comparison between Smart Paddle[™] and manual stroke rate testing and 3) determining the sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™ to discriminate between varied intensities of swimming. Results: No significant difference in kinetic variables between T1 and T2 was determined between for any intensity or any stroke. ICC scores for all strokes were good-excellent for all intensities, CV% was <5%, and effect size was small between trials 1 and 2. No significant difference in stroke rate was observed between manual stroke count and the Smart Paddle[™]. Swim performance at 90% of maximum produced significantly higher results than at low work intensity (50%) for average force, impulse, and efficiency for all strokes between low and high intensities. **Conclusion:** The Smart Paddle[™] appears to demonstrate sufficient reliability, validity, and sensitivity making it a potentially useful tool for the determination of kinetic variables in free swim performance. The Smart Paddle[™] can be used in applied environments for kinetic analysis across multiple days, various strokes, and over a range of training intensities.

List of Tables

Table 1. Force variable reliability results for left, right, and combined hand at three intensity speeds for freestyle

Table 2. Force variable reliability results for left, right, and combined hand at three intensity speeds for backstroke

Table 3. Force variable reliability results for left, right, and combined hand at three intensity speeds for butterfly

Table 4. Effect size (cohen's d), mean, confidence intervals (95%) and significance (p-value) of force variables for left and right hand comparing easy 50% to high 90% speed to determine whether small detectable force changes could be determined from different speeds of significantly different standards

List of Figures

Figure 1. Forces acting in dynamic environment when swimmer moving forwards

Figure 2. Smart Paddle™ placement on hand

Figure 3. Bland-Altman plots of the difference between Smart Paddle[™] and Manual (y-axis) and mean of measurements (x-axis) for stroke rate in freestyle

Figure 4. Bland-Altman plots of the difference between Smart Paddle[™] and Manual (y-axis) and mean of measurements (x-axis) for stroke rate in backstroke

Figure 5. Bland-Altman plots of the difference between Smart Paddle[™] and Manual (y-axis) and mean of measurements (x-axis) for stroke rate in butterfly

Figure 6. Average Force during 50% and 90% speeds for freestyle (A), backstroke (B), and butterfly (C).

Figure 7. Peak Force during 50% and 90% speeds for freestyle (A), backstroke (B), and butterfly (C).

Figure 8. Efficiency during 50% and 90% speeds freestyle (A), backstroke (B), and butterfly (C).

Figure 9. Impulse during 50% and 90% speeds for freestyle (A), backstroke (B), and butterfly (C).

Figure 10. Hand velocity during 50% and 90% speeds for freestyle (A), backstroke (B), and butterfly (C).

Abbreviations

Τ1	Trial 1
T2	Trial 2
Μ	Mean
SD	Standard deviation
ICC	Interclass correlation coefficient
CV	Coefficient of variation
SEM	Standard error of mean
d	Cohen's d effect size
PS	Pressure sensors
Ν	Newtons
N•s	Newtons per second
Spm	Strokes per minute
m/s	Metres per second

SECTION 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 An introduction to swimming

Swimming is a popular form of lifelong exercise because of its accessibility to all ages and abilities, and the valuable physiological and neurological benefits that it provides (Swim England, 2017). Swimming helps to prevent musculoskeletal injury such as sprains or tears (Tanaka and Seals, 1997) by enhancing muscular strength development (The Health and Wellbeing Benefits of Swimming report, 2017), and reduces conditions of poor health (cardiac, respiratory or obesity centred issues) by improving metabolic processes (Kawasaki et al., 2011), aerobic capacity (Rosimini, 2003; Wang and Hung, 2009), and advancing motor skills, balance, and hand-eye coordination (Kawasaki et al., 2011; Mazzeo and Tanaka, 2001; Wong et al., 2011). Swimming also elicits neurological benefits associated to cognitive function and memory (Abou-Dest et al., 2012; Petrescu et al., 2014) and is popular activity choice for enjoyment and stress mediation across all ages and abilities (Abou-Dest et al., 2012; Köroglu and Yigiter, 2016; Mische Lawson et al., 2019).

1.2 Competitive swimming

From a competitive perspective, the objective of swimming is to achieve the fastest performance time at a set distance and stroke. Performance development is measured using quantitative analysis of performance metrics such as stroke metrics, speed, and time improvement. Quantitative performance analysis is introduced in the early years of athlete training and its use progresses as athletes reach elite level (Santos et al., 2023; Zacca et al., 2020). The primary focus of age-group swimmers is technique refinement and aerobic capacity building (Lang and Light, 2010; Morais et al., 2017), compared to elite level swimming where the development of velocity, power, and force are prioritised. As the primary objective of a competitive swimming performance is to achieve the fastest race time, velocity is an important variable for performance analysis (Barbosa et al., 2011; Bartolomeu et al., 2018; Fernandes et al., 2022). Velocity and force exhibit causality for faster swimming performance, demonstrating that greater velocity cannot be achieved without greater force production (Barbosa et al., 2021; Santos et al., 2023; Seifert et al., 2010, 2004).

Accordingly, performance may be limited by the inability to produce effective and sustainable force.

Quantitative analysis of swimming can be categorised to temporal, kinetic, and kinematic analysis, all of which evaluate a specific swimming performance metric, and require specific methodologies (Mooney et al. 2015). Kinetic analysis in swimming is the quantification of force output which has potential to improve swimming efficiency and overall swimming performance due to its established relationships with kinematics in swimming (Santos et al, 2021). Kinetic analysis of swimming is broken down to components of race phases (start, free swim, turn, and finish; (Barbosa et al., 2021; Gonjo and Olstad, 2021)). While the kinetic analysis of start, turn, and finish phases of swimming performance are recognised and established in the literature, the free swim phase is limited in kinetic analysis due to the lack of technology available. However, recent emergence of pressure sensors (PS) in that last decade (2015) within aquatic environments has now made this type of analysis possible (Santos et al., 2021). The introduction of PS grants opportunities for in-water force analysis to be performed for the free swim phase. Yet, a lack of scientific research establishing the efficacy of PS means that the efficacy of new equipment must first be investigated.

SECTION 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

This literature review will first discuss the fundamentals of swimming as a competitive sport and outline basic knowledge of swimming from a competitor and coach's perspective (Section 2.1). It will then outline the in-water and in-land performance variables associated with swimming analysis (Sections 2.2). This literature review will then go on to discuss the kinetic and kinematic variables associated with swimming performance analysis (Sections 2.2.1 and 2.2.2), before discussing the historical analysis of kinetic and kinematic variables within swimming performance (Section 2.3). It is beyond the scope of this literature review to explain the swimming patterns of all strokes explicitly, as well as to discuss methodologies not concerning that of velocity or force analysis. It is also beyond the scope of this literature review to critically discuss the impact of anthropometrics on swimming performance. The purpose of this literature review is to outline the fundamentals of swimming from a coach and practitioner perspective, to discuss the relationships between force and swimming performance, and provide an overview of established methodologies for force analysis in swimming to date.

2.1 Overview of competitive swimming

2.1.1 Characteristics of competitive swimming

Swimming is a popular competitive sport that has existed in the Olympic Games since the first hosted event in 1896. Olympic indoor swimming has 37 different events in distances ranging from 50-1500m, conducting several rounds of heats and finals. Performance duration in competitive swimming can range between <20 seconds to >17 minutes depending on stroke and/or distance (IOC - Olympics, 2017). Swimming mechanics have evolved over time to be more efficient in generating high propulsive forces for greater velocities. For instance, the 'S' shaped pulling pattern in freestyle was considered the best as it used sculling to propel forward (Troup, 1999). However, in recent years the 'straight arm' pulling pattern has been adopted as this has demonstrated to produce higher propulsive force outputs due to the deep catch method (Wei et al., 2014).

Swimming is a unique sport due to being conducted within an aquatic environment. The physical properties of water elicit physiological adaptations in the body to meet the demands of the environment, such as cardiovascular and respiratory adjustments (Lahart and Metsios, 2018). Swimming is typically performed in a supine position resulting in altered gravitational effects on circulation, restricted breathing, and eliminates perfusion pressure. In turn this lowers cardiac output, inducing an increased venous filling, triggering renal diuresis and haemoconcentration (Holmer, 1992; Troup, 1999). Because of the physiological differences elicited in swimming compared to land-based sports, the environmental condition of swimming requires the knowledge of hydrodynamics to perform effective performance analysis.

Competitive swimming is comprised of four types of strokes: freestyle, backstroke, butterfly, and breaststroke. All strokes have their own technical and performance requirements (Troup, 1999). Swimming strokes freestyle, backstroke, and butterfly have similar stroke analysis phases (hand entry, catch, in-sweep, finish, and recovery), whereas breaststroke only has three stroke phases (out-sweep, insweep, and recovery) (Troup, 1999). Similar lower limb kicking patterns are observed in both freestyle and backstroke, whereas in butterfly, legs kick in unison, and breaststroke possesses a different pattern entirely with technical phases separated to recover, out-sweep and in-sweep. Competitive swimming training sessions are aerobic based or anaerobic based (Hellard et al., 2017), with focus on specific skills or performance plans where session training load is determined primarily using daily/weekly distance covered (Barry et al., 2022).

Regardless of stroke, swimming performance is broken down into 4 phases: start, turn, free swim, and finish (Barbosa et al., 2021; Gonjo and Olstad, 2021). Start performance consists of analysis from the starting block up until 15m of a race. During this phase, metrics such as force and power off the block, reaction time from the gun, and speed of swimmer to the 15m mark are influential factors for performance improvement (Dingley et al., 2015; Thng et al., 2020). Turn performance data were captured from 5m distance away from, and 10m after turning at the wall where force off the wall, speed of turn, and speed to 15m post-wall are determining factors for improving velocity (Born et al., 2021; Julian V Jones et al., 2018; Marinho et al., 2020; J. E. Morais et al., 2019). The finish phase refers to the final 5m of a race where the swimmer must time their stroke and touch to minimise their swim time. Finally, the free

swim phase is defined as the distance between completing the start phase and prior to the finish phase, minus turn phases. Due to technological constraints, free swim performance is the most underrepresented phase within published reports (Gonjo and Olstad, 2021).

2.1.2 In-water performance characteristics

The fastest stroke in swimming is freestyle followed by butterfly, backstroke, and breaststroke, respectively. Most speed from a swimming performance, regardless of stroke, comes from the upper body where arm velocity contributes at least 80% of overall velocity. This ranges from contributing as much as 90% to total velocity in freestyle to contributing ~78% in breaststroke (Bartolomeu et al., 2018), whereas the lower body contributes approximately average 10% to total velocity across all strokes (Deschodt et al., 1999). Velocity is suggested to be one of the most important variables contributing to swimming performance, and is fundamental to analysis of race phase, stroke kinematics, and kinetic variables (Barbosa et al., 2011, 2021).

Stroke kinematics categorise the variables associated to stroke performance: stroke count (the number of strokes per swim), stroke rate (the number of strokes per minute; spm), distance per stroke (or stroke length - the distance covered in metres by each stroke), and stroke index (efficiency of a swimmer of combining speed and distance per stroke; (Barbosa et al., 2011). Stroke kinematics are influential to performance due to their relationship with velocity. A polynomial relationship exists between stroke rate and stroke length as, during a swimming performance, stroke rate will increase and stroke length will decrease corresponding to an increased velocity (Barbosa et al., 2011, 2008; Seifert et al., 2007). Velocity throughout a race will also decrease as distance increases, requiring stroke rate to remain high to maintain as great a velocity as possible (Toussaint et al., 2006). Velocity plateaus and decreases when stroke rate goes beyond 100% relative value, identifying that stroke kinematics can only influence velocity so far before other variables contribute (Takagi et al., 2023). High-performance swimmers can change kinematics mid-performance to maintain high swimming velocity and thus, achieve a more efficient swimming performance (Barbosa et al., 2011, 2008; Chollet et al., 1997; Didier et al., 1996; Fernandes et al., 2022; Lätt et al., 2010). Greater stroke rates are observed in short distance events (i.e., 50-100m; (Didier et al., 1996), lower stroke rates and greater stroke length values are observed in mid to long-distance events (i.e., 200m-1500m; (Barbosa et al., 2011)), where these polynomial relationships still apply regardless of distance.

High-performance swimmers will incorporate stroke kinematics to produce a greater velocity such as a greater stroke rate, longer stroke length, and unchanged intra-stroke velocity (Barbosa et al., 2021; Chollet et al., 1997; Fernandes et al., 2022; Gonjo et al., 2020; Seifert et al., 2010, 2004). Body roll is an outcome of stroke kinematics in freestyle and backstroke where the body rotates along the spine and is important in the production of greater propelling forces to pull and push hands through the water. However, this is suggested to be less important in butterfly and breaststroke which rely more upon body and hand position to minimise resistance forces (Barbosa et al., 2011; Troup, 1999). While freestyle and backstroke produce similar stroke rates and distance per stroke, freestyle produces greater velocity, potentially due to the greater arm reach and shoulder rotation available in freestyle (Formosa et al., 2012). Propulsion efficiency is paramount to a more economical performance from an energy expenditure perspective with freestyle being most economic and breaststroke the least due to propulsive forces primarily coming from the upper limbs using an 'arm pull' technique. However, this is not as evident in breaststroke technique which contains the less energy efficient 'leg push' technique (Barbosa et al., 2006; Zamparo et al., 2020). Across all strokes, maintaining a low 'energy cost' (achieving high velocity with low stroke rate and high stroke length) is a primary objective during swim performance (Zamparo et al., 2020).

2.2 Performance analysis in competitive swimming

Stroke rate can influence velocity only so much until velocity plateaus; therefore, generation of propulsive force is important for the increase of velocity. It is the understanding of force relationships in water and efficiency of force that will influence the increase in velocity (Troup, 1999). The effective generation of propulsive force of the hand is a skill learned in age-group swimming by training the technique 'sculling.' This is a movement where the hands in the water are in search of 'still water', to which when swimming the swimmer will use to push off of to propel forward thus generating large amounts of propulsive force and so achieving a greater velocity (Troup, 1999). Through refinement of this skill and practice of correct stroke technique will lead to better understanding of the flow and movement of body in water and so

better efficiency of propulsive force development in performance (Takagi et al., 2023). Propulsive force efficiency is essential for high performance athletes to maintain throughout a performance for propulsive force is directly correlated with velocity. Therefore, analysis of technique, force, and velocity of the upper limbs are required for effective progression and development of performance in competitive swimming.

2.2.1 Biomechanics in swimming and kinetic analysis

Forces existing in the aquatic environment are more complex than other sports due to the differing gravitational, buoyancy and resistive forces in play, especially in free swimming. Newton's laws of motion are the foundation to the understanding the relationship between force and swimmer (Stager and Tanner, 2008). The resistive forces of drag force (force acting against the swimmer when moving forward) and buoyancy/lift force (force acting perpendicular to the swimmer), and their relationship to propulsive force (force acting with the swimmer to propel forward) are fundamental to greater velocity and improved performance (Barbosa et al., 2011, 2021; Seifert et al., 2010; Stager and Tanner, 2008) (**Figure 1**).



Figure 1. Forces acting in dynamic environment when swimmer moving forwards.

The foundation of quantitative analysis of kinetic variables (velocity and force) use video analysis, velocity analysis, and force platforms. Video analysis is considered the gold standard method for accurate and reliable biomechanical, temporal, kinetic and kinematic analysis of a swimming performance (Chainok et al., 2021; Magalhaes

et al., 2015) and is used as a reference for kinematic performance and for reliability and validating analysis of other swimming performance analysis devices (Cortesi et al., 2021, 2019; Fantozzi et al., 2022; Morais et al., 2022; Tsunokawa et al., 2019). The use of video analysis with other performance analysis devices have proven to be valid for kinetic analysis (Ceseracciu et al., 2011a), where filming would capture the kinematics stroke metrics data and combined with velocity or force capturing data, could develop a true image of performance. Velocity based measurements display data on acceleration, peak velocity, average velocity, and time (Butterfield et al., 2020; Callaway, 2014, 2015; Clément et al., 2021; Cortesi et al., 2021, 2019; Fantozzi et al., 2022; Hamidi Rad et al., 2021; Mooney et al., 2016; Morais et al., 2022; Pla et al., 2021; Stamm et al., 2013). One assessment method of velocity in swimming is the use of tethered swimming, commonly referred to as 'speed reel' within coaching environment (Borges dos Santos et al., 2013; Craig and Pendeegast, 1979; Dadashi et al., 2012; Dominguez-Castells et al., 2013; Loturco et al., 2016; Morouço et al., 2011, 2014; Rakovic et al., 2020; Soncin et al., 2017). This device can also produce force profiles when the tethered device is attached to force capturing equipment, referred to as the tethered swimming method which will be discussed in more detail further in **section 2.3.2**. Force profiles identify performance characteristics such as average force, peak force, impulse, and efficiency which can be valuable for the analysis and understanding of kinetic variable relationships in swimming.

Force-based equipment can be implemented for on-land and in-water force output measurements using force platforms. Force platforms are considered the gold standard method for measuring on-land power in jump tests (Castagna et al., 2013; Hermosilla et al., 2021; Julian V. Jones et al., 2018; Peterson Silveira et al., 2017), proving to be a valid and reliable method for kinetic analysis of start (de Jesus et al., 2019; Mason et al., 2012; Mourão et al., 2015; Peterson Silveira et al., 2017; West et al., 2011) and turns (de Jesus et al., 2019; Julian V. Jones et al., 2018; Ling et al., 2004; Mason et al., 2012; Nicol et al., 2021; Peterson Silveira et al., 2017; Puel et al., 2012) of in-water swimming performances. A recently developed method of force-capturing technology that have the potential to provide force analysis of not only start and turns but in the free-swimming phase of performance are PS (Bartolomeu et al., 2021; Kauhanen, 2020; Löppönen et al., 2022; Santos et al., 2022a). PS have the

capability to provide individual stroke kinetic measurements from the upper body, rather than methods for start and turn measuring kinetic output from only lower body.

Swimmers must work to overcome resistive forces of the water to elicit greater velocities and produce greater propulsive forces to propel themselves forward in the water at higher velocities (Stager and Tanner, 2008), which is generated from the upper limbs (Takagi et al., 2023). High-performance athletes have been observed to generate greater propulsive forces during the in-sweep phase to increase stroke efficiency and impulse per stroke (Seifert et al., 2004; Stager and Tanner, 2008). Achieving a greater velocity in swimming is dependent on the ability to produce a high propulsive force profile relative to their drag force (Borges dos Santos et al., 2013; Seifert et al., 2010, 2004), meaning that swimmers must train to produce and maintain large propulsive forces over repeated bouts. The development of velocity in swimming is limited without the production of high propulsive forces. Therefore, monitoring such levels of force production is important since force, as demonstrated, is fundamental to the development of velocity and power and overall, a more successful performance.

2.2.2 Evaluating velocity and force characteristics in start and turn performances

As previously mentioned, specific methodologies for force analysis have been employed to examine start and turn performance; however, not extensively within the free swim phase. Kinetic analysis of start and turn performances have proven essential for the development of velocity and power amongst high-performance swimmers. Kinetic variable equipment has developed to measure both land and water force output using force plates/platforms. Force platforms are considered the gold standard method for measuring land based power in jump tests, as mentioned in Section 2.2.1 (Castagna et al., 2013; Hermosilla et al., 2021; Julian V. Jones et al., 2018; Peterson Silveira et al., 2017) and have demonstrated high validity and reliability for measuring force metrics (peak force, average force, impulse, time, peak power) in start (de Jesus et al., 2019; Mason et al., 2012; Mourão et al., 2015; Peterson Silveira et al., 2017; West et al., 2011) and turn (de Jesus et al., 2019; Julian V. Jones et al., 2018; Ling et al., 2004; Mason et al., 2012; Nicol et al., 2021; Peterson Silveira et al., 2017; Puel et al., 2012) in-water performances. The extensive investigation of start and turn phases have identified many relationships between velocity and power, and performance. For example, large correlations between acceleration and force generation in start and turn push off's and overall velocity have been identified (Gonjo and Olstad, 2020). This has led to the understanding that the ability to produce substantial amounts of force is fundamental to achieve higher velocities in start and turn performances, and success in swimming.

Start and turn performances have large transferability to land velocity and power measurements and positive relationships between plyometric and maximum strength tests for force and power production and increased velocity in start and turn performances have been observed (Cossor et al., 2011; Cuenca-Fernández et al., 2022; Dingley et al., 2015; Hermosilla et al., 2021; Potdevin et al., 2011; Thng et al., 2020). Although these relationships are useful for the evaluation of swimming performance and identifying the use of force and power analysis in swimming, there is a lack of sufficient new discoveries in start and turn performance, highlighting that there is a sufficient volume of information surrounding starts and turn that we understand the performance relationships, unlike that for free-swim. Understanding kinetic relationships in start and turn phases have been fundamental to the improvement of swimming performance velocity, where performance metrics can be quantified to determine the kinetic criteria for a high performance swimmer (Barbosa et al., 2021; Borges dos Santos et al., 2013).

2.3 Methodologies investigating kinetic analysis in free-swimming phase

Analysis of force in free swimming phase has been investigated since as early as 1933 (Karpovich and Pestrecov, 1939). However, it is only in recent years, that relationships truly representable of a free-swimming performance have been established via the use of PS within performance analysis (Santos, 2021). The pressure distribution method estimates force acting on the hands by measuring pressure changes on hand surface caused by unsteady forces (Takagi et al., 2023). PS's convert pressure data of water against the hand to force on a 3-dimensonal scale (propulsive force, vertical force, and lateral force). Independent data from left to right can be analysed for performance, a factor for up until recently, could only be estimated from overall force. It is the advancement of this technology and the understanding of forces in swimming from previous methods that has allowed for more comprehensive analysis of in-water swimming performance.

2.3.1 Assessment methodologies and relationships with drag force

The first method to assess any form of swimming force performance was the identification of drag force. In accordance with Newton's laws of motion, motion will not occur unless a force acts onto the object. In swimming, if propulsive force is not applied by the swimmer, then motion will not occur. The interactions between forces directly impact swimming velocity. The resistograph towing method was developed in 1933 as a way to measure drag force by measuring the resistance of the swimmer while being pulled through the water (Karpovich and Pestrecov, 1939; Peter V. Karpovich M. D., 2013). This method identified that forces exerted against a swimmer (drag force) are equal to the forces exerted by the swimmer (propulsive force) at a constant velocity (Di Prampero et al., 1974), identifying that to overcome drag, the swimmer must generate propulsive forces greater than the opposing forces. The towing method demonstrates moderate-high inter- and intra-day reliability (Di Prampero et al., 1974; Hazrati et al., 2016; Karpovich and Pestrecov, 1939). However, the use of the resistograph method is limited as it can only measure drag force in a streamlined position, thus, the glide position within the start phase is the only performance phase that it is useful for. Although it is useful to understand the relationship between of forces at the glide portion of a start performance (Hermosilla et al., 2022), the start phase accounts for only 30% of a 50m long course performance (de Jesus et al., 2014), and is not a discriminating factor for overall start performance (Fischer and Kibele, 2016; Vantorre et al., 2014). Overall, the towing method is useful for the understanding of a swimmer's relationship with drag, but the data measured with relevance to force analysis is not transferable to an overall performance.

The hand model protocol (HMP) was developed in 1979 to further understand the relationship with drag force by measuring the effect of drag at different hand positions, a limitation of the towing method (Schleihauf, 1979). The HMP combined force analysis with video systems to analyse the movement pattern of water around the hand at different velocities and hand 'catch' positions using a prosthetic hand in an open water channel. Unlike the towing method where drag could only be measured in a prone or supine position, HMP can identify how drag forces change in response to different hand positions, which can be used to determine relative optimum pitch and angle of the hand to achieve optimum catch performance (Berger et al., 1995; Bixler and Riewald, 2002; Deschodt, 1996; Marinho et al., 2010; Schleihauf, 1983, 1979). Despite this, the hand model is fixed and moves at a constant velocity, a protocol that is not representable of a free swim performance. The HMP was used to measure force on a 3-dimensional axis with a swimmer (Schleihauf, 1983) using video recordings of the swimmer and utilising the original HMP method. The conclusions drawn were not representable of forces in free swimming because the forces were not directly determined but estimated from a protocol that measured forces on a 2-dimensional scale (Schleihauf, 1983). The HMP model was developed to be used in a dynamic environment where a fixed hand model was towed to measure force interactions on the hand using a force transducer (Berger et al., 1995), demonstrating to be more representable of a swimming performance (Deschodt, 1996; Sanders, 1999). However, HMP remains to be a prosthetic model and can only determine kinetic relationships in a fixed environment. A swimmer's hand during swimming does not stay fixed but is fluid, dynamic, and moves and responds to the movement of the water (Barbosa et al., 2021). Even though the information provided is useful for the determination of the optimum hand angle of entry to reduce lift and drag forces (Bixler et al., 2007), it does not inform of force analysis in a free swim performance.

The measuring active drag (MAD) system was developed in 1986 for the analysis of drag on a swimming performance using swimmers (Hollander et al., 1986), confirming the findings identified in 1933, but now in a dynamic setting (Karpovich, 2013). The MAD system demonstrated to be reliable for kinetic analysis and useful for measuring force and power representative of sprint performance distances (Toussaint et al., 2006, 2004). Unfortunately, it is not truly representative of a swimming performance as the protocol involves push off grips that create an unnatural movement compared to a regular swimming performance and elicits technique changes such as extended reach, shoulder overwork, and shorter catch during the protocol (Formosa et al., 2012). The MAD system, despite being able to measure force in a dynamic swimming performance, does not provide a representation of natural free swimming force production as the swimmer has to change their performance to meet the requirements of the protocol.

Lastly, the computational fluid dynamics (CFD) model is a methodology developed based on the foundations of the hand model but with the addition of a computer simulation model to measure drag and lift forces for various hand angles and pitches to provide a 3-dimensional understanding of force relationships to performance (Bixler and Riewald, 2002). The CFD model is a simulation of a swimmer's hand and forearm in steady state flow conditions where hand angle and pitch can be changed along with velocity, allowing for estimation of drag and lift forces. Subsequently, the CFD protocol can determine relationships between forces, angles, and pitches and at varying velocities (Bixler and Riewald, 2002; Marinho et al., 2010). This provides interesting feedback for in-water performance. However, much like the relationships identified from the HMP, CFD is considered to be reliable but not valid for free-swimming force representation (Bixler et al., 2007).

2.3.2 Tethered swimming method for kinetic analysis

The tethered swimming method is the most widely used method for kinetic analysis in swimming as it establishes relationships between force and free-swimming performance in a representative manner (Morouço et al., 2011; Santos et al., 2021). The swimmer performs a free swim at a given length at any velocity and the force exerted by the swimmer is determined by the displacement of the cord and time (Mosterd and Jongbloed, 1964). The tethered swimming method was the first protocol developed that captured a true swim performance, making the method most appealing for performance analysis purposes. This method permitted the discovery of the positive linear relationship between propulsive force and swimming velocity that would the foundation of understanding of the betterment of performance (Amaro et al., 2017; Mosterd and Jongbloed, 1964). This method also provided high-performance swimmers with a quantitative metric to measure progress to aid with the planning on training to increase velocity. It identified the same relationship between propulsive force and drag force at constant velocity as previous towing methods and the MAD system; however, as the tethered swimming method can directly determine propulsive, it is with greater confidence that this relationship is indeed true (Magel, 2013). The tethered swimming method has been identified as a "good estimate" of kinetic analysis in free swimming performance (Dadashi et al., 2012; Magel, 2013) due to its high reliability (Amaro et al., 2014, 2017; Joaquim Baratto de Azevedo et al., 2021; Kjendlie and Thorsvald, 2005; Morouço et al., 2011, 2014; Nagle Zera et al., 2021; Psycharakis et al., 2011; Rakovic et al., 2020; Santos et al., 2021), and moderate-high validity to maximum force, minimum force, and rate of force development (Dopsaj et al., 2004; Nagle Zera et al., 2021; Rakovic et al., 2020). Comparing all force analysis

methodologies, the tethered swimming method is the method that is most representative of free-swimming performance.

The tethered swimming method does, however, demonstrate several limitations such as contradicting findings and a risk of overestimation of kinetic results. Within sprinting events, mixed findings have been established whether there is a correlation between kinetic variables measured by the tethered swimming method and velocity of sprint performance (Joaquim Baratto de Azevedo et al., 2021; Loturco et al., 2016; Morouço et al., 2011, 2014; Yeater et al., 1981). The tethered swimming method is also unable to determine impulse which is a useful metric for performance analysis (Dopsaj et al., 2004; Loturco et al., 2016). Furthermore, the tethered swimming method has proven to overestimate kinetic variables (Gatta et al., 2016; Samson et al., 2019; Yeater et al., 1981) and cause performance impairment due to the use of external wires (Samson et al., 2019; Yeater et al., 1981). The tethered swimming method is useful when considering overall force production and propulsive force analysis in swimming, but not when investigating accurate force determination or limb specific force investigation. Despite the tethered swimming method providing a direct assessment of propulsive force in free-swimming, it is argued whether the kinetic variable values from this method are truly representative of a free-swimming performance.

2.3.3 Pressure sensors method for kinetic analysis

The method for force analysis that is gaining a reputation for being the most effective and representative form of analysis of a swimming performance are PS due to the real-time feedback provided during a free-swimming performance (Santos et al., 2021). PS detect how much pressure is being applied by the swimmer and by the water on the 3-dimensional axis, and translates this through as force via a transmitter unit to an associated database (Havriluk, 1987). PS can determine propulsive forces and other meaningful force data of independent upper body limbs, developing a more representable image of how a swimmer interacts with water (Bartolomeu et al., 2021; Kauhanen, 2020; Tsunokawa et al., 2018). PS have identified positive relationships between upper body speed and upper body propulsive force with overall swimming velocity, a relationship that was only assumed and not established prior to the emergence of this method of assessment (Koga et al., 2022; Tsunokawa et al., 2019).

PS can be used for kinetic analysis and measuring maximum force, minimum force, average force, peak force, and symmetry index in a swimming performance (Bartolomeu et al., 2021; Pereira et al., 2015; Santos et al., 2022a). PS are attached to the hands, wrists, or arms and measure kinetic variables independent of which limb is used. Collecting data in this way surpasses all other methods and their data collection for free-swimming kinetic variable measures because others measures force as a whole body sum (Kauhanen, 2020; Koga et al., 2022; Löppönen et al., 2022; Santos et al., 2022a; Tsunokawa et al., 2018, 2019), rather than the more informative way of limb specific measures.

In earlier models of PS, limitations included a lack of an accelerometer in the device meaning data collection was initiated manually using motion capture video (Bartolomeu et al., 2021; Koga et al., 2022; Pereira et al., 2015; Tsunokawa et al., 2019, 2018), subjecting opportunity for error. Furthermore, the PS design was not applicable for performance replication as the placement of the sensor wires and the required attachment of physical transmitter units on the swimmer (Bartolomeu et al., 2021; Koga et al., 2022; Pereira et al., 2015; Tsunokawa et al., 2019, 2018) posed disruptive to the swimmer's natural performance and risk of producing invalid force results. Such issues were resolved in 2020 when an accelerometer was included in the Smart Paddle[™] apparatus and wireless connection was developed (Kauhanen, 2020). The use of wireless connection between sensors and a server allowed for an efficient and easy protocol, allowing the swimmer to swim with less restriction or distraction and ensuring that the force data was representable of a swimming performance. Smart Paddle[™] has been proved to be reliable in the measurements of kinetic and kinematic variables compared to other PS (Marinho et al., 2022). One recurring drawback, however, is that the sensors require airtime to correctly determine stroke metrics and force measurements. Therefore, freestyle, backstroke, and butterfly are most suitable for measurement using this assessment method, as breaststroke may be more difficult to examine as the swimmer's hands do not exit the water during this stroke.

Previously, PS have presented accurate and reliable data for measuring force in swimming performances (Löppönen et al., 2022; Santos et al., 2022a), and have identified relationships of in-water kinetic variables in free swimming for upper limb independent analysis. However, given the recent emergence of the Smart Paddle[™] technology, understanding of their efficacy to assess swimming performance across stroke, intensity, and across multiple timepoints remain unknown. Establishing this will provide coaches and practitioners with guidance on the suitability of this assessment method for utilisation within applied environments.

2.4 Aims and Objectives

The aim of this thesis is to investigate the efficacy of the Smart Paddle[™] for inwater force analysis in high-performance swimmers in freestyle, backstroke and butterfly by measuring force output metrics. Breaststroke was excluded from investigation in this study due to the challenges of data collection by Smart Paddle[™] already established in section 2.3.3. Specifically, the objectives of this thesis are to i) determine if intra-day absolute and relative reliability is evident of the Smart Paddle[™]; ii) to determine if objective validity is evident of the Smart Paddle[™]; and iii) to determine if the sensitivity of the Smart Paddle[™] to identify changes in kinetic variables at different swimming intensities is evident. If this study successfully addresses these aims and objectives, this study will pose potential applications of how to apply the Smart Paddle[™] to address performance related questions in a highperformance swimming environment.

SECTION 3

METHODS

3.1 Participants

In total, 31 participants (male: 19, female: 12) participated in the study. Participants were high-performance swimmers within the University of Stirling, **sport**scotland Institute of Sport high-performance swim programme. Participants performed 1 of 3 strokes: freestyle (n=17 (12 male, 5 female)), M ± SD: 21.4 ± 2.4 years-old, 78.0 ± 8.2kg, 180.8 ± 8.7cm, 814 ± 57 World Aquatics Points); backstroke (n=10 (5 male, 5 female)), M ± SD: 21.6 ± 2.5 years-old, 77.9 ± 8.5kg, 180.3 ± 8.7cm, 823 ± 61 World Aquatics Points); or butterfly (n=4 (2 male, 2 female)), M ± SD: 20.4 ± 1.4 years-old, 74.1 ± 7.8kg, 177.3 ± 7.7cm, 831 ± 24 World Aquatics Points). Participants were assessed at the end of the tapered season and free of injury. Participants were included if they were 18 years old or over, had competed at national level or above within the last 12 months, obtained over 700 World aquatics points (previously known as FINA), and had at least 5 years' experience training as part of a high-performance swimming programme. Participants were excluded from the study if they were injured or did not meet the inclusion criteria.

3.2 Procedures

3.2.1 Protocol

Ethical approval was obtained by the NHS, Invasive or Clinical Research panel at the University of Stirling (Ethical clearance reference number: 11032). The lead researcher met with the high-performance swimming coaches prior to commencing the project where the protocol, aims, and objectives were discussed and gatekeeper consent for participation in the study was provided. Consent was provided for the storage of anonymous performance data over an 18-month period. A signed and dated physical consent form acknowledged that the participant understood the purpose of data were collected and agreed to take part in the project and to the storage of their data. Data collection took place at the Scottish Swimming National Swimming Academy located at the University of Stirling. Data collection took place over a course of 3 weeks between April – May 2023. All data collection took place during participants' regular training schedule to minimise cumulative fatigue, avoid disrupting their training schedule, and maintain circadian rhythm.

3.2.2 Anthropometric measurements

Standing stature (cm) and body mass (kg) were measured using a stadiometer (Leicester Height Measure, Marsden Weighing Machine Group Ltd, Oxon, UK) and digital flat scales (849 Flat Scale, SECA, Hamburg, Germany), respectively, for each participant.

3.2.3 In-water testing

Participants were encouraged to not make any changes regarding their regular daily routine and to follow their regular sleeping pattern, nutrition regimen and hydration status for pre-test control measures.

A single group, repeated measures design was selected for this study to assess intra-day reliability, validity, and sensitivity of the Smart Paddle[™] PS. Data were collected in the 50m indoor pool (~28°C) of the Scottish Swimming National Swimming Academy located at the University of Stirling. Swimmers were randomly assigned a date for intra-day reliability across a 3-week data collection period. Swimmers performed two bouts of 50m swimming at each of the following intensities: low (50% maximum speed), moderate (70% maximum speed), and high (90% maximum speed) based on their second 50m stroke rate of a 100m race achieved between 2-4 weeks prior to the testing date. For the purpose of this thesis, 'intensity' is a proxy for 'speed'.

Participants performed bouts from a push start off wall and performed underwater kick swimming up to 15m as according to their normal swimming performance. Prior to each bout, participants were cued with a verbal countdown by the researcher to push off. Participants performed one of the three swimming strokes (freestyle, backstroke, or butterfly) based on chosen specialised competitive stroke. Stroke rates were standardised using a stroke rate pacer device (Tempo Trainer, FINIS, California, United States of America), where individualised stroke rates for each intensity were inputted by the researcher prior to each bout. Stroke rate pacer devices were worn inside the swim cap at a position audible to the swimmer throughout swimming. Rest was standardised by performing bouts every 2 minutes. Swimmers wore a government body 'World Aquatics' approved race suit and cap during in-water testing. Participants performed a standardised warm-up of 1000m swimming followed by a 100m familiarisation period with force sensor devices where the participants swam 2 reps of 50m, first 50m was performed at individualised 50% rate and second 50m was performed at 70% rate. The research team requested feedback from all participants after this familiarisation period regarding maintenance of rates throughout swim and

feedback from paddle devices. Participants were encouraged to swim normally for true representation of swimming performance.

3.2.4 Equipment

Pressure sensor devices (Smart Paddle™, Trainesense Ltd, Finnish Institute of Technology, Finland) were worn on both the right and left hand on the palmar face of the second and third phalanges (Kauhanen, 2020; Löppönen et al., 2022). The Smart Paddle[™] is a system that consists of a wearable device, a Trainesense session manager mobile application for data recording and uploading, and an analysis centre for data analysis and storage. The Smart Paddle[™] measures pressure differentials between palmar and dorsal faces across a 10x10cm² surface area using two pressure sensors and movement on a 9-axis inertial measurement unit. Accelerometers and gyroscope sensor types were embedded into the device. Device sampling frequency of the Smart Paddle[™] was 100Hz, with a memory capacity of 40 minutes and wirelessly charged battery of 33 hours. Discrete data is provided where data is collected every 10ms and raw data is able to be exported from the server once swim bout completed. The Smart Paddle[™] is attached to the hand using silicon straps around the second and third phalanges on the palmar face of the hand. Data were collected by Smart Paddle[™] was transferred to mobile device via Bluetooth (protocol range was 50m). The mobile device recorded and uploaded the data to the analysis centre from which the analysis centre would automatically and instantaneously analyse recorded data and display visual analysis graphs of performance metrics. Each sensor measured force output propulsive, lateral, and vertical force from each hand. The Smart Paddle[™] determined average force, peak force, efficiency, impulse, and hand velocity for both left and right hands individually.

Standardisation of swimming intensities were determined using individualised stroke rates with pacer devices being used to cue each swimmer (Williams et al. 2023). Participants did not require a familiarisation period for the pacer devices as these were a routine device used regularly by participants within their training. Data from swimming bouts were uploaded to the Smart Paddle[™] software following every participant's bout of testing and renamed with the individualised pseudonymised ID associated to each participant, an ID privy only to the research team. Underwater video filming (GoPro 7 Black, GoPro, San Mateo, California, United States of America) was performed to determine the manual stroke rate for each bout (Ceseracciu et al., 2011b; Magalhaes et al., 2015).



Figure 2. Smart Paddle™ placement on hand

3.3 Data Analysis

Data from each Smart Paddle[™] were collected using the Trainesense session manager mobile application. Data were processed onto a single-signalling software 'the analysis centre' for analysis and data storage and stored offline onto the lead researcher's server. Output data on the PS software included: average force (N); peak force (N); efficiency (%); impulse (N•s); hand velocity (m/s); and stroke rate (spm) of the left and right hand separately. 50m was the total testing distance, 15m underwater swimming with no upper body activity and 35m of free-swimming was the data collected.

3.4 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed on statistical software jamovi (version 2.0.0, Sydney, Australia) and Microsoft Excel (version Microsoft 365, Microsoft, New Mexico, USA). Figures were developed using GraphPad Prism software (version 9.0.0, Insight Partners, Graphpad Holdings, LLC). Prior to analysis, the assumption of normality and homoscedasticity of the data were verified using the Shapiro-Wilk and Levene tests, respectively. The mean, standard error of mean, and standard deviation (M, SEM, SD) were computed as descriptive statistics. A two-way random effects intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) with absolute agreement and coefficient of variation (CV) was used to report relative test-retest reliability. Standardised effect size, reported as Cohen's *d*, using the pooled SD as the denominator, was calculated to evaluate the magnitude of the test-retest differences. A paired samples t-test was used to compare the outcome variables between T1 and T2 of 50%, 70%, and 90% intensities and for stroke rate validity test. Relative test-retest reliability of each

variable was assessed using Pearson's r correlation coefficients (r), the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) with 95% confidence intervals, coefficient of variation (CV%) and standard error of measurement (SEM) from pooled SD for individual strokes (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). Correlation coefficient was categorised as negligible (r=0.0-0.1), weak (r=0.1-0.39), moderate (r=0.4-0.69), strong (r=0.7-0.89) and very strong (r=0.9-1.0) (Schober et al., 2018). Based on the ICC estimate, values less than 0.5, between 0.5 and 0.75, between 0.75 and 0.9 and greater than 0.90 are indicative of poor, moderate, good, and excellent reliability, respectively (Koo and Li, 2016). The CV% values were interpreted as poor if CV% was > 10%, moderate if CV% was $5\% \ge 10\%$, and good if CV% was <5% (Scott et al., 2016). Effect size was interpreted as small (d<0.2), medium (0.3>d<0.7), and large (d>0.8) (Cohen 1977). The tests were deemed as reliable if a good-excellent ICC score was identified (>0.80), a good CV (<5%) and effect size was small-medium (d<0.7) (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998; Cohen, 1977; Hopkins, 2000; Koo and Li, 2016; Scott et al., 2016). Sensitivity was determined by significant difference through paired sample t-tests and effect size values between 50% and 90% swimming intensity bouts. No comparison for sensitivity was conducted for 70% speed as force metrics values were not varied enough to provide significant sensitivity determination. Pearson's r correlation coefficients were used to determine association between stroke rate and force variables, a positive strong correlation was determined if r>0.70 and a negative strong correlation when r<0.70 (Schober et al., 2018). Effect size large (d>0.8) were used to determine as sensitive results (Cohen, 1977). Bland-Altman plots with 95% limits of agreement (LoA) were used to display the within-subject variation and systematic differences between stroke rate data collection by Smart Paddle[™] and manual collection for validity determination. The bias (mean difference), standard deviation (SD), and upper and lower LoA were calculated (Martin Bland and Altman, 1986). Data were collected with 80% power, confidence was maintained through effect sizes small-large (Cohen, 1977). Statistical significance was identified as p≤0.05.

SECTION 4

RESULTS

4.1 Descriptive analysis of swimming performance using the Smart Paddle™

Freestyle presented the highest kinetic variable values compared to backstroke and butterfly at all intensities for average force, peak force, efficiency, and impulse (**Tables 1-3**). Backstroke presented the lowest values compared to freestyle and butterfly at all intensities for average force, peak force, impulse, and hand velocity (**Tables 1-3**). Butterfly presented the highest values for hand velocity at lower intensities (**Table 3**) and highest values for efficiency at higher intensities (70% and 90%) compared to backstroke but not compared to freestyle.

4.2 Reliability of the Smart Paddle™

4.2.1 Reliability of the Smart Paddle™ during freestyle

Trial 1 and Trial 2 presented no significant differences (p>0.05) between performance bouts for average force, peak force, efficiency, impulse, and hand velocity for all swimming speeds for both left- and right-hand during freestyle (Table 1) and demonstrated a significant positive correlation for T1 and T2 kinetic variable values (r>0.70). Average force presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.97; 70%: r=0.93; 90% r=0.97). Peak force presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: *r*=0.96; 70%: *r*=0.97; 90% *r*=0.94). Efficiency presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined leftand right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.95; 70%: r=0.92; 90%: r=0.94). Impulse presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and righthand for all speeds (50%: r=0.98; 70%: r=0.92; 90%: r=0.92). 'Very strong' positive correlations were identified for hand velocity for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.89; 70%: r=0.97; 90%: r=0.98). Effect size was 'small' for all speeds for combined left- and right- hand for average force, peak force, and efficiency (d<0.2). Effect size was 'small' for 50% speed for impulse and hand velocity (d<0.2) and hand velocity 90% and was 'medium' for 70% and 90% for impulse (d=0.3-0.5) and 70% hand velocity (d=0.3). SEM was negligible for all force variables in freestyle with SEM ranging from 0.0-1.0N for all speeds (Table 1). Hand velocity presented the lowest SEM across all speeds (~0.0m/s), whereas impulse presented the highest SEM across speeds (~0.4N•s).

ICC values were 'good-to-excellent' for all force variables (ICC = 0.75-0.99) except from left hand velocity at 50% intensity which was moderate (ICC = 0.72) (**Table 1**). Average and peak force had ICC values of 'excellent' (ICC>0.90) across all swimming speeds. Peak force presented 'good' ICC values for peak right-hand force at 90% (ICC = 0.75-0.89). Efficiency presented ICC values of 'excellent' for all speeds apart from 50% speed for left-hand, and 70% speed for right-hand where ICC values were 'good' (ICC = 0.75-0.89). Impulse had 'excellent' ICC values for all speeds apart from at 70% speed for the right-hand which was 'good' (ICC = 0.79). For hand velocity, all speeds produced 'excellent' ICC values except for the left-hand at 50% speed (ICC = 0.72). CV for all force variables at all speeds was scored 'good' (CV<5%), with peak force scoring the lowest average CV (1.3%) across all speeds, and impulse scoring the highest average CV (2.2%).

4.2.2 Reliability of the Smart Paddle™ during backstroke

Trial 1 and Trial 2 in backstroke presented no significant difference for all kinetic variables at any speed 50, 70, 90% for both left- and right-hand (p>0.05) (**Table 2**) and all kinetic variables have a significant positive correlation for T1 and T2 (r>0.70). Average force presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.97; 70%: r=0.98; 90%: r=0.99). Peak force presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (r=0.98). Efficiency presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (r=0.98). Efficiency presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (r=0.98). Impulse presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.97; 70%: r=0.94; 90%: r=0.98). 'Very strong' positive correlations were identified for hand velocity for combined left- and right-hand for 50% speed (r=0.95), and 'strong positive' correlations (70%: r=0.84; 90%: r=0.78).

Effect size was 'small' for all speeds for combined left- and right-hand for average force, peak force, and impulse (d<0.2). Effect size was 'medium' for efficiency at 90% speed (d=0.5) and 50% hand velocity (d=0.3), all other speeds for efficiency and hand velocity were 'small' effect sizes (d<0.2). SEM for backstroke was negligible

(0.0-0.5N), with average force and hand velocity presenting the lowest SEM (0.0N, 0.0m/s) and Peak Force and Impulse the highest at (0.2N, 0.2N•s).

ICC scores were 'good-to-excellent' (ICC = 0.75 - 0.99) for all force variables for left- and right-hand at all speeds except hand velocity right hand at 90% which was 'moderate' score (ICC = 0.65). Average force and peak force demonstrated the highest average ICC scores across all speeds (ICC = 0.98) followed by 'excellent' average scores of efficiency (ICC = 0.97), impulse (ICC = 0.96) and 'good' score for hand velocity (ICC = 0.86). Average force, peak force and efficiency had 'excellent' ICC scores across all speeds for both left- and right-hand (ICC>0.90). CV for all force and velocity Smart Paddle \mathbb{M} variables were scored 'good' (CV<5%), with hand velocity scoring the highest average CV (2.5 - 4.1%) across all speeds 90% demonstrating the most variation, and efficiency scoring the lowest average CV (0.8 - 1.2%) with the coefficient of variation increasing with speed, a trend not observed in any other force variables (**Table 2**).

4.2.3 Reliability of the Smart Paddle™ during butterfly

Trial 1 and Trial 2 presented no significant difference between performance bouts for average force, peak force, efficiency, impulse and hand velocity (p>0.05) for all swimming speeds for both left- and right-hand for butterfly (**Table 3**) and demonstrated to have a significant positive correlation for T1 and T2 kinetic variable values (r>0.70). Average force presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.97; 70%: r=0.97; 90%: r=0.91). Peak force presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.96; 70% r=0.97; 90%: r=0.92). Efficiency presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.96; 70% r=0.97; 90%: r=0.92). Efficiency presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.96; 70% r=0.97; 90%: r=0.92). Efficiency presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.96; 70% r=0.97; 90%: r=0.92). Efficiency presented significant 'very strong' positive correlations for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.99; 70%: r=0.99; 70%: r=0.99; 90%: r=0.94). 'Very strong' positive correlations were identified for hand velocity for combined left- and right-hand for all speeds (50%: r=0.99; 70%: r=0.98).

ICC presented 'good-to-excellent' scores for butterfly for all Smart Paddle[™] kinetic variables (**Table 3**). Hand velocity presented the highest average score (ICC =
0.99), and efficiency presented the lowest ICC (ICC = 0.81). ICC score in butterfly decreased with increased speed with 50 and 70% speed presented 'excellent' score (ICC = 0.95) and 90% speed with 'good' score (ICC = 0.88). All Smart PaddleTM kinetic variables demonstrated a CV%<5. All kinetic variables demonstrated an average CV% of less than 2% (1.3 - 1.8%) except hand velocity 2.7%. Increased intensity increased the CV with 90% speed CV being 2.1% compared to that of 50 and 70% speeds where CV was 1.9% and 1.4% respectively (**Table 3**).

SEM for butterfly was negligible (0.0-0.8N) for all force variables, with peak force and efficiency presenting a highest SEM (0.3N, 0.3%) and hand velocity presenting the lowest SEM (0.0m/s). Effect size was 'small' for average force, peak force, efficiency and impulse at 50% speed, efficiency at 90% speed and hand velocity at 70% and 90% speed (d<0.2). 'Medium' effect size was determined at 70% for average force, peak force, and efficiency, and at 90% speed for average force, peak force and impulse (d<0.8). 'Large' effect size was found for impulse at 70% speed (d=1.1) and 50% speed at hand velocity (d=0.9) (**Table 3**).

			50%	ز د		70%		90%		
		Left hand	Right hand	Combined	Left hand	Right hand	Combined	Left hand	Right hand	Combined
Average Force	T1 (M+SD) [N]	16.8±2.3	14.6±2.5	15.7±2.6	20.3±3.0	17.9±3.7	19.1±3.5	22.2±3.6	20.1±3.9	21.1±3.8
	T2 (M+SD) [N]	17.1±2.3	14.7±2.4	15.9±2.6	20.4±3.2	17.7±4.0	19.0±3.8	22.0±3.8	19.9±4.2	21.0±4.1
	ICC (95% CI)	0.98 (0.94-0.99)	0.95 (0.88-0.98)	0.97(0.94-0.99)	0.95 (0.86-0.98)	0.90 (0.74-0.96)	0.93 (0.86-0.96)	0.94 (0.85-0.98)	0.98 (0.94-0.99)	0.96 (0.93-0.98)
	CV [%]	1.4	1.9	2.1	1.6	3.3	2.5	1.8	1.6	1.7
		0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
	a	0.33	0.19	0.02	0.06	0.13	0.06	0.16	0.15	0.16
	T1 (M+SD) [N]	90.4±10.7	88.3±14.2	89.3±12.5	90.3±13.0	85.3±13.7	87.7±13.4	86.1±15.0	82.1±13.4	84.1±14.2
Peak Force	T2 (M+SD) [N]	90.2±11.7	88.3±13.2	89.3±12.3	90.9±14.1	83.4±14.8	87.2±14.7	85.9±15.5	82.0±14.9	83.9±15.1
	ICC (CI)	0.93 (0.780-0.97)	0.99 (0.96-0.99)	0.96 (0.92-0.98)	0.97 (0.91-0.99)	0.95 (0.86-0.98)	0.96 (0.92-0.98)	0.98 (0.94-0.99)	0.89 (0.73-0.96)	0.94 (0.89-0.97)
	CV [%]	1.5	1.0	1.2	1.1	1.8	1.4	1.1	1.2	1.8
	SEM [N]	0.4	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.4
	d	0.07	0.02	0.05	0.42	0.48	0.09	0.07	0.01	0.03
Efficiency	T1 (M+SD) [%]	48.6±4.7	44.2±6.0	46.4±5.8	52.1±4.8	49.5±5.9	50.7±5.5	54.0±5.4	52.8±5.9	53.4±5.6
	T2 (M+SD) [%]	48.2±4.2	44.2±5.9	46.2±5.4	52.0±5.3	50.4±5.3	51.2±5.3	54.0±5.5	53.0±5.9	53.5±5.7
	ICC (CI)	0.89 (0.72-0.96)	0.97 (0.92-0.99)	0.95 (0.90-0.98)	0.97 (0.91-0.99)	0.88 (0.71-0.96)	0.92 (0.84-0.96)	0.97 (0.91-0.99)	0.93 (0.82-0.97)	0.95 (0.89-0.97)
	CV [%]	1.6	1.0	1.3	1.0	1.8	1.4	1.1	1.6	1.3
	SEM [N]	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.2	0.2
	d	0.17	0.04	0.08	0.16	0.34	0.16	0.05	0.09	0.04
	T1 (M+SD) [N•s]	82.7±17.8	80.6±20.0	81.6±18.7	67.6±14.7	62.4±10.8	64.9±12.9	56.7±11.1	52.0±8.5	54.3±10.0
Impulse	T2 (M+SD) [N•s]	84.8±17.3	79.8±17.4	82.3±17.3	66.3±13.3	58.6±11.3	62.4±12.8	55.2±11.7	51.3±9.1	53.3±10.5
impulse	ICC (CI)	0.97 (0.91-0.99)	0.98 (0.95-0.99)	0.98 (0.95-0.99)	0.98 (0.94-0.99)	0.79 (0.45-0.92)	0.91 (0.79-0.96)	0.90 (0.75-0.96)	0.93 (0.82-0.97)	0.91 (0.83-0.96)
	CV [%]	1.7	1.2	1.5	1.7	3.7	2.6	2.9	1.9	2.4
	SEM [N•s]	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	1.0	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.4
	d	0.20	0.22	0.01	0.38	0.59	0.48	0.29	0.21	0.25
	T1 (M+SD) [m/s]	1.0±0.3	1.4±0.2	1.2±0.3	1.3±0.3	1.6±0.3	1.5±0.3	1.6±0.4	1.7±0.3	1.6±0.4
Hand	T2 (M+SD) [m/s]	1.0±0.2	1.4±0.2	1.2±0.3	1.4±0.4	1.6±0.3	1.5±0.3	1.6±0.5	1.7±0.3	1.6±0.4
Velocity	ICC (CI)	0.72 (0.37-0.89)	0.95 (0.87-0.98)	0.88 (0.77-0.94)	0.98 (0.95-1.00)	0.95 (0.87-0.98)	0.97 (0.94-0.99)	0.98 (0.94-0.99)	0.98 (0.95-0.99)	0.98 (0.96-0.99)
	CV [%]	2.1	1.9	2.0	1.7	2.5	2.1	2.1	1.4	1.7
	SEM [m/s]	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	d	0.25	0.32	0.24	0.48	0.22	0.31	0.28	0.18	0.09

Table 1. Force variable reliability results for left, right, and combined hand at three intensity speeds for freestyle

Note: T1 = trial 1: mean ± SD, T2 = trial 2: mean ±SD, ICC = interclass correlation coefficient: 95% confidence intervals, CV = coefficient of variation, SEM = standard error of mean, d = Cohen's d.

		50%			70%			90%		
		Left hand	Right hand	Combined	Left hand	Right hand	Combined	Left hand	Right hand	Combined
Average	T1 (M+SD) [N]	11.3±2.5	10.6±2.7	10.9±2.6	13.2±3.5	12.2±3.3	12.7±3.4	15.0±4.5	13.8±3.8	14.4±4.1
	T2 (M+SD) [N]	11.0±2.1	10.6±2.8	10.8±2.4	13.2±3.4	11.7±3.4	12.5±3.4	15.2±4.7	13.9±4.1	14.5±4.4
Force	ICC (95% CI)	0.96 (0.84-0.99)	0.99 (0.94-1.00)	0.97 (0.93-0.99)	0.99 (0.98-1.00)	0.97 (0.91-0.99)	0.98 (0.96-0.99)	0.98 (0.93-0.99)	0.99 (0.96-1.00)	0.99 (0.96-0.99)
	CV [%]	1.7	1.8	2.1	1.2	1.8	1.5	2.0	1.3	1.8
	SEM [N]	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	d	0.39	0.04	0.24	0.04	0.36	0.24	0.21	0.17	0.19
	T1 (M+SD) [N]	54.8±15.7	56.8±14.4	55.8±14.7	53.0±15.0	53.5±14.7	53.2±14.5	53.3±13.0	51.7±12.2	52.5±12.3
Peak Force	T2 (M+SD) [N]	53.9±14.6	57.4±14.7	55.6±14.3	53.6±15.7	51.5±15.5	52.6±15.2	52.0±13.9	47.7±17.0	52.1±13.5
reakronee	ICC (CI)	0.99 (0.95-1.00)	0.98 (0.92-0.99)	0.98 (0.95-0.99)	0.99 (0.95-1.00)	0.98 (0.91-1.00)	0.98 (0.95-0.99)	0.98 (0.91-0.99)	0.98 (0.94-1.00)	0.98 (0.95-0.99)
	CV [%]	1.9	2.1	2.0	1.9	2.1	2.0	2.3	3.1	4.2
	SEM [N]	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3
	d	0.39	0.19	0.06	0.22	0.16	0.02	0.46	0.16	0.16
Efficiency	T1 (M+SD) [%]	42.2±5.6	39.2±4.9	40.7±5.4	46.6±6.2	42.9±5.7	44.7±6.1	47.9±6.0	44.7±5.3	46.3±5.8
	T2 (M+SD) [%]	42.2±5.4	38.9±5.0	40.6±5.3	47.0±5.9	42.7±5.7	45.0±6.1	48.5±6.2	45.6±6.4	47.0±6.3
	ICC (CI)	1.00 (0.98-1.00)	0.98 (0.91-0.99)	0.99 (0.97-0.99)	0.98 (0.94-1.00)	0.95 (0.81-0.99)	0.97 (0.93-0.99)	0.98 (0.92-1.00)	0.95 (0.80-0.99)	0.97 (0.90-0.99)
	CV [%]	0.5	1.0	0.7	0.9	1.3	1.0	0.9	1.5	1.2
	SEM [N]	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1
	d	0.08	0.26	0.14	0.44	0.08	0.12	0.64	0.48	0.52
	T1 (M+SD) [N•s]	66.8±10.1	66.6±11.7	66.7±10.6	51.3±10.9	51.3±8.7	51.3±9.6	46.1±10.1	45.0±8.4	45.6±9.1
Impulse	T2 (M+SD) [N•s]	65.5±8.71	67.3±11.7	66.4±10.1	51.1±10.8	50.0±37.8	50.6±10.6	45.8±10.8	44.7±8.3	45.2±9.4
mpulse	ICC (CI)	0.96 (0.83-0.99)	0.98 (0.91-0.99)	0.97 (0.92-0.99)	0.99 (0.98-1.00)	0.87 (0.51-0.97)	0.94 (0.85-0.96)	0.99 (0.96-1.00)	0.97 (0.90-0.99)	0.98 (0.96-0.99)
	CV [%]	1.4	1.5	1.4	0.9	2.8	1.8	1.5	2.0	1.7
	SEM [N•s]	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.5	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
	d	0.50	0.27	0.11	0.14	0.06	0.06	0.21	0.17	0.19
	T1 (M+SD) [m/s]	0.9±0.3	0.9±0.3	0.9±0.2	1.0±0.3	1.1±0.2	1.1±0.2	1.2±0.3	1.2±0.3	1.2±0.3
Hand Velocity	T2 (M+SD) [m/s]	0.9±0.2	0.9±0.2	0.9±0.2	1.1±0.2	1.1±0.3	1.1±0.2	1.2±0.2	1.2±0.2	1.2±0.2
	ICC (CI)	0.93 (0.74-0.98)	0.97 (0.86-0.99)	0.95 (0.87-0.98)	0.84 (0.50-0.96)	0.86 (0.50-0.97)	0.85 (0.65-0.94)	0.93 (0.74-0.98)	0.65 (0.06-0.90)	0.78 (0.52-0.91)
	CV [%]	4.1	2.8	3.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	4.8	4.3
	SEM [m/s]	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	d	0.10	0.61	0.29	0.25	0.08	0.18	0.49	0.11	0.06

Table 2. Force variable reliability results for left, right, and combined hand at three intensity speeds for backstroke

Note: T1 = trial 1: mean ± SD, T2 = trial 2: mean ±SD, ICC = interclass correlation coefficient: 95% confidence intervals, CV = coefficient of variation, SEM = standard error of mean, d = Cohen's d.

50%		70%			90%					
		Left hand	Right hand	Combined	Left hand	Right hand	Combined	Left hand	Right hand	Combined
Average	T1 (M+SD) [N]	16.8±2.3	13.8±2.7	15.3±2.8	18.9±1.4	17.0±2.4	18.0±2.0	20.0±1.9	17.1±5.8	19.8±2.1
	T2 (M+SD) [N]	16.7±2.2	13.8±2.8	15.2±2.8	19.2±1.7	17.3±2.3	18.3±2.1	19.8±2.2	19.0±3.1	19.4±2.5
Force	ICC (95% CI)	0.96 (0.53-1.00)	0.96 (0.54-1.00)	0.97 (0.87-0.99)	0.94 (0.50-1.00)	0.98 (0.78-1.00)	0.97 (0.83-0.99)	0.86 (-0.23-0.99)	0.93 (0.46-1.00)	0.89 (0.60-0.98)
	CV [%]	1.7	1.8	2.2	1.2	1.1	1.3	2.5	2.6	2.6
	SEM [N]	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2
	d	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.51	0.64	0.61	0.14	0.66	0.34
	T1 (M+SD) [N]	66.8±8.8	66.1±10.2	66.4±8.8	67.2±5.7	67.5±9.2	67.4±7.1	64.8±6.2	66.3±9.7	65.5±7.8
Peak Force	T2 (M+SD) [N]	67.0±8.2	66.0±10.0	66.5±8.5	66.7±6.4	66.8±9.6	66.8±7.6	62.7±5.3	65.1±8.9	63.9±6.9
reakroite	ICC (CI)	0.94 (0.28-1.00)	0.99 (0.85-1.00)	0.96 (0.83-0.99)	0.95 (0.48-1.00)	0.98 (0.77-1.00)	0.97 (0.85-0.99)	0.75 (0.19-0.98)	0.98 (0.79-1.00)	0.91 (0.62-0.98)
	CV [%]	1.9	2.1	1.6	1.1	0.9	1.1	2.7	0.5	1.9
	SEM [N]	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.8	0.0	0.4
	d	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.24	0.33	0.31	0.50	0.70	0.55
Efficiency	T1 (M+SD) [%]	42.5±1.4	36.7±4.7	39.6±4.4	48.4±2.5	45.8±5.5	47.1±4.2	51.3±2.6	43.0±4.7	49.7±3.9
	T2 (M+SD) [%]	42.1±2.3	36.3±4.7	39.2±4.6	49.6±1.8	45.3±3.7	47.4±3.5	51.2±1.7	48.5±2.0	49.8±2.2
	ICC (CI)	0.77 (0.42-0.98)	0.95 (0.44-1.00)	0.77 (0.42-0.98)	0.83 (0.07-0.99)	0.87 (0.13-0.99)	0.87 (0.49-0.97)	0.72 (0.83-0.98)	0.72 (0.70-0.98)	0.77 (0.18-0.95)
	CV [%]	0.5	1.0	1.7	1.2	1.9	1.5	1.1	2.1	1.7
	SEM [N]	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.2
	d	0.26	0.22	0.23	1.36	0.19	0.61	0.07	0.16	0.08
	T1 (M+SD) [N•s]	73.3±8.4	69.6±7.8	71.4±7.7	57.7±11.1	55.1±11.1	56.4±10.3	47.4±7.9	48.4±11.7	47.9±9.2
Impulse	T2 (M+SD) [N•s]	73.2±6.9	69.5±6.6	71.4±7.1	56.1±10.9	54.5±11.3	55.3±10.3	46.5±8.0	45.4±7.8	45.9±7.3
mpulse	ICC (CI)	0.97 (0.63-1.00)	0.99 (0.80-1.00)	0.99 (0.93-1.00)	0.99 (0.36-1.00)	0.99 (0.95-1.00)	0.99 (0.87-1.00)	0.99 (0.82-1.00)	0.87 (0.19-0.99)	0.90 (0.59-0.98)
	CV [%]	1.4	1.5	0.8	1.4	0.8	1.1	1.1	3.3	2.2
	SEM [N•s]	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.6	0.3
	d	0.07	0.04	0.05	1.88	0.55	1.05	0.90	0.64	0.58
	T1 (M+SD) [m/s]	1.16±0.5	1.39±0.6	1.3±0.5	1.32±0.4	1.44±0.6	1.4±0.4	1.55±0.6	1.46±0.6	1.5±0.5
Hand	T2 (M+SD) [m/s]	1.23±0.5	1.44±0.6	1.3±0.5	1.35±0.5	1.42±0.5	1.4±0.5	1.54±0.6	1.46±0.6	1.5±0.5
Velocity	ICC (CI)	0.98 (0.71-1.00)	0.99 (0.86-1.00)	0.99 (0.87-1.00)	0.98 (0.56-1.00)	1.00 (0.98-1.00)	0.98 (0.91-1.00)	1.00 (0.93-1.00)	0.98 (0.74-1.00)	0.99 (0.93-1.00)
	CV [%]	4.1	2.8	2.9	3.4	0.7	2.0	1.6	3.5	2.5
	SEM [m/s]	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	d	1.04	0.63	0.86	0.25	0.93	0.08	0.15	0.06	0.01

Table 3. Force variable reliability results for left, right, and combined hand at three intensity speeds for butterfly

Note: T1 = trial 1: mean ± SD, T2 = trial 2: mean ±SD, ICC = interclass correlation coefficient: 95% confidence intervals, CV = coefficient of variation, SEM = standard error of mean, d = Cohen's d.

4.3 Validity of the Smart Paddle™

Establishing direct face validity of Smart Paddle[™] was challenging due to the lack of comparable techniques for measuring in-water kinetic variables. Therefore, an objective validity analysis was performed for the comparison of stroke rate between Smart Paddle[™] and manual stroke rate calculation. Manual stroke rate was determined by manually counting strokes over 35m segment of bouts. Smart Paddle[™] and manual stroke rate ranges had non-significant differences between methods for freestyle, backstroke and butterfly for all intensities (p>0.05).

4.3.1 Validity of stroke rate using Smart Paddle™ for freestyle

Stroke rate for freestyle using the Smart PaddleTM ranged 25-28spm compared to 23-28spm manually observed for low intensity (50%). Similar range differences were observed at 70% intensity (Smart PaddleTM: 32-40spm, manual: 30-40spm), and 90% intensity (Smart PaddleTM: 40-52spm, manual: 37-50spm). There was no significant difference for stroke rate between Smart PaddleTM or manual for freestyle (p=0.09), however, this value was approaching significance. Biases (mean differences) was 0.3 between methods with a range of 6spm, and most data points were within the limits of agreement for freestyle (**Figure 3**).



Figure 3. Bland-Altman plots of the difference between Smart Paddle [™] and Manual (y-axis) and mean of measurements (x-axis) for stroke rate in freestyle. Dotted lines represent the upper and lower 95% LoA (mean differences ± 1.96 SD of the differences) and solid lines represent the mean differences between the two trials (bias). Shaded areas represent the 95% confidence intervals of upper and lower limits.

4.3.2 Validity of stroke rate using Smart Paddle™ for backstroke

Backstroke Smart PaddleTM ranged 20-26spm compared to manual 20-26spm for low intensity (50%), similar range differences were exhibited in 70% intensity (Smart PaddleTM: 30-38spm, and manual: 30-37spm), and 90% intensity (Smart PaddleTM: 35-44spm, and manual: 36-44spm). There was no significant difference between Smart PaddleTM determined stroke rate or manual determined stroke rate for backstroke (p=0.60). Biases (mean differences) was 0.1 between methods with a range of 6spm, and most data points were within the limits of agreement on both stroke rate data collection methodologies for backstroke (**Figure 4**).



Figure 4. Bland-Altman plots of the difference between Smart Paddle[™] and Manual (y-axis) and mean of measurements (x-axis) for stroke rate in backstroke. Dotted lines represent the upper and lower 95% LoA (mean differences ± 1.96 SD of the differences) and solid lines represent the mean

differences between the two trials (bias). Shaded areas represent the 95% confidence intervals of upper and lower limits.

4.3.3 Validity of stroke rate using Smart Paddle™ for butterfly

Butterfly Smart PaddleTM ranged 32-42spm compared to manual 30-36spm for low intensity (50%), similar range differences were exhibited in 70% intensity (Smart PaddleTM: 37-47spm, and manual: 37-47spm), and 90% intensity (Smart PaddleTM: 44-56spm, and manual: 48-56spm). There was no significant difference between Smart PaddleTM determined stroke rate or manual determined stroke rate for butterfly (p=1.00). Biases (mean differences) were zero between methods with a range of 4spm, and most data points were within the limits of agreement on both stroke rate data collection methodologies for butterfly (**Figure 5**).





4.4 Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™

4.4.1 Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™ during freestyle

Average force for freestyle was significantly greater (t = 9.1, p < 0.01) at 90% (21.1±4.1N) than 50% (16.1±2.7N) with a 5±1.4N increase with relative speed (**Figure 6A**). Peak force for freestyle was significantly less (t = 2.3, p = 0.03) at 90% (83.9±15.1N) than 50% (89.3±12.3N) with a 5.4±2.8N decrease with relative speed (**Figure 7A**). Efficiency for freestyle was significantly greater (t = 7.7, p<0.01) at 90% (53.5±5.7%) than 50% (46.2±5.4%) with a 7.3±0.3% increase with relative speed (**Figure 8A**). Impulse for freestyle was significantly less (t = 13.3, p<0.01) at 90% (53.3±10.5N•s) than 50% (82.3±17.3N•s) with a 29±6.8N•s decrease with relative speed (**Figure 9A**). Hand Velocity for freestyle was significantly greater (t = 8.0, p<0.01) at 90% (1.6±0.4m/s) than 50% (1.2±0.3m/s) with a 0.4±0.1m/s increase with relative speed (**Figure 10A**).

4.4.2 Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™ during backstroke

Average Force for backstroke was significantly greater (t = 6.9, p<0.01) at 90% (14.9±4.6N) than 50% (11.1±2.6N) with a $3.8\pm2.0N$ increase with relative speed (**Figure 6B**). Peak Force for backstroke was not significantly different (t = 1.9, p=0.08) at 90% (49.9±15.3N) than 50% (55.6±14.3N) with a decrease of 5.7±1.0N with relative speed (**Figure 7B**). Efficiency for backstroke was significantly greater (t = 7.2, p<0.01) at 90% (47.0±6.3%) than 50% (40.6±5.3%) with a 6.4±1.0% increase with relative speed (**Figure 8B**). Impulse for backstroke was significantly less (t = 15.8, p<0.01) at 90% (45.2±9.4N•s) than 50% (66.4±10.1N•s) with a 21.2±0.7N•s decrease with relative speed (**Figure 9B**). Hand Velocity for backstroke was significantly greater (t = 5.0, p<0.01) at 90% (1.7±0.2m/s) than 50% (0.9±0.2m/s) with a 0.6m/s increase with relative swim speed (**Figure 10B**).

4.4.3 Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™ during butterfly

Average Force for butterfly was significantly greater (t = 6.9, p<0.01) at 90% (19.7±2.6N) than 50% (15.3±2.6N) with a 4.4N increase with relative speed (**Figure 6C**). Peak Force for butterfly was not significantly different (t = 1.3, p=0.24) at 90% (63.9±6.9N) than 50% (66.5±8.5N) with a decrease of 2.6±1.6N with relative speed (**Figure 7C**). Efficiency for butterfly was significantly greater (t = 6.6, p=0.0003) at

90% (49.8±2.2%) than 50% (39.2±4.6%) with a 10.6±2.4% increase with relative speed (**Figure 8C**). Impulse for butterfly was significantly less (t = 16.2, p<0.01) at 90% (45.9±7.3N•s) than 50% (71.3±6.6N•s) with a 25.4±0.7N•s decrease with relative speed (**Figure 9C**). Hand Velocity for butterfly was not significantly different (t = 1.9, p=0.1) at 90% (1.5±0.5m/s) than 50% (1.3±0.5m/s) with a 0.2m/s increase with relative swim speed (**Figure 10C**).



Figure 6. Average Force during 50% and 90% speeds for freestyle (A), backstroke (B), and butterfly (C).'Significance of p<0.05 represented by *, p=0.001 represented by *** and p<0.001 represented by ****.



Figure 7. Peak Force during 50% and 90% speeds for freestyle (A), backstroke (B), and butterfly (C). Significance of p<0.05 represented by *.







Figure 8. Efficiency during 50% and 90% speeds for freestyle (A), backstroke (B), and butterfly (C). 'Significance of p<0.05 represented by *, p=0.001 represented by *** and p<0.001 represented by ****.







Figure 9. Impulse during 50% and 90% speeds for freestyle (A), backstroke (B), and butterfly (C).'Significance of p<0.05 represented by *, p=0.001 represented by *** and p<0.001 represented by ****.







Figure 10. Hand velocity during 50% and 90% speeds for freestyle (A), backstroke (B), and butterfly (C). 'Significance of p<0.05 represented by *, p=0.001 represented by *** and p<0.001 represented by ****.

Table 4. Effect size (cohen's d), mean, confidence intervals (95%) and significance (p-value) of force variables for left and right hand comparing easy 50% to high 90% speed to determine whether small detectable force changes could be determined from different speeds of significantly different standards

		Free	style	Backs	stroke	Butterfly		
		LEFT	RIGHT	LEFT	RIGHT	LEFT	RIGHT	
	50% (M, 95%CI) [N]	17.3 (16.1-18.4)	14.7 (13.6-15.9)	11.0 (9.7-12.3)	10.6 (8.9-12.3)	19.8 (17.7-21.9)	13.8 (11.0-16.5)	
Average	90% (M, 95% CI) [N]	22.0 (20.2-23.8)	19.9 (18.0-21.9)	15.2 (12.3-18.2)	13.9 (11.3-16.4)	16.7 (14.6-18.9)	19.0 (15.9-22.0)	
Force	P value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.05	<0.001	<0.05	<0.05	
	d	1.41	1.76	1.35	1.67	4.33	2.37	
	50% (M, 95%CI) [N]	90.2 (84.6-95.7)	88.3 (82.1-94.6)	53.9 (44.9-62.9)	57.4 (48.3-66.5)	67.0 (58.9-75.0)	66.0 (56.2-75.8)	
Peak Force	90% (M, 95% CI) [N]	85.9 (78.5-93.3)	82.0 (74.9-89.1)	52.0 (43.4-60.7)	47.7 (37.1-58.2)	62.7 (57.6-67.9)	65.1 (56.4-73.8)	
	P value	0.31	<0.05	0.37	0.13	0.20	0.80	
	d	0.25	0.66	0.29	0.53	0.83	0.14	
	50% (M, 95%Cl) [%]	48.2 (46.4-50.2)	44.2 (41.4-47.1)	42.2 (38.9-45.6)	38.9 (35.8-42.0)	42.1 (39.8-44.4)	36.3 (31.7-40.9)	
Efficiency	90% (M, 95% CI) [%]	54.0 (51.3-56.6)	53.0 (50.2-55.9)	48.5 (44.6-52.3)	45.6 (41.6-49.6)	51.2 (49.5-52.8)	48.5 (46.6-50.4)	
	P value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.05	<0.001	<0.05	<0.05	
	d	0.94	1.93	1.37	1.85	3.69	2.02	
	50% (M, 95%CI) [N•s]	84.8 (76.6-93.0)	79.8 (71.5-88.0)	65.5 (60.1-70.9)	67.3 (60.1-74.6)	73.2 (66.4-79.9)	69.5 (63.0-76.0)	
Impulse	90% (M, 95% CI) [N•s]	55.2 (49.7-60.8)	51.3 (47.0-55.6)	45.8 (39.1-52.5)	44.7 (39.5-49.8)	46.5 (38.7-54.3)	45.4 (37.8-53.0)	
	P value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.05	<0.05	
	d	2.62	1.99	4.12	3.28	5.49	5.71	
	50% (M, 95%CI) [m/s]	1.0 (0.9-1.1)	1.4 (1.3-1.5)	0.9 (0.8-1.1)	0.9 (0.7-1.0)	1.2 (0.7-1.7)	1.5 (0.8-2.0)	
Hand	90%(M, 95% CI) [m/s]	1.6 (1.4-1.8)	1.7 (1.5-1.8)	1.2 (1.0-1.3)	1.2 (1.0-1.3)	1.5 (1.0-2.1)	1.5 (0.9-2.0)	
Velocity	P value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.05	<0.05	0.10	0.78	
	d	1.88	1.21	0.92	1.30	1.16	0.17	

Note: Significance determiend by p value (p<0.05). Trivial-small effect determined if d<0.6.

'Large' effect sizes were determined for left- and right-hand in average force, efficiency, impulse, and hand velocity for all strokes, and peak force had effect sizes of 'small' (d<0.2) (**Table 4**).

SECTION 5

DISCUSSION

This thesis aimed to evaluate the efficacy of the Smart Paddle[™] to assess kinetic force during free swimming in high-performance swimmers. Intra-day absolute and relative reliability were investigated and the Smart Paddle[™] was determined as a reliable tool for kinetic variable analysis for all strokes within this study. Validity of Smart Paddle[™] was investigated by the objective comparison between stroke rate values from Smart Paddle[™] compared to known stroke rate values by manual testing. Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle[™] was also investigated and determined that average force, impulse, and efficiency were sensitive to changes in swimming intensity irrespective of stroke type. However, changes in peak force and hand velocity were stroke dependent.

5.1 Reliability of the Smart Paddle™

The Smart Paddle[™] demonstrated 'strong' absolute reliability and small, nonsignificant differences in kinetic variables between trials. These findings are similar to previous investigations investigating the reliability of the Smart Paddle[™] within waterbased sports (Löppönen et al., 2022; Marinho et al., 2022). This thesis differed from Löppönen as their study investigated kayak as the sport and Marinho investigated only freestyle stroke with 4 high-performance participants, therefore findings from this thesis contribute to the literature by investigating multiple strokes with a larger sample size. This strong intra-day reliability of the Smart Paddle[™] suggests that these devices may confidently be used for training analysis within an applied environment.

PS (**see Section 2.3.3**), are reported to be reliable measures of kinetic and kinematic variables in free swimming (Havriluk, 1987; Pereira et al., 2015; Santos et al., 2022a). This is comparable to findings from tethered swimming methods which, up until the development of water-based PS devices, were most widely used for kinetic analysis in free-swim performance for the assessment of average force, peak force (Dopsaj et al., 2004; Joaquim Baratto de Azevedo et al., 2021; Nagle Zera et al., 2021; Psycharakis et al., 2011), and impulse (Amaro et al., 2014; Joaquim Baratto de Azevedo et al., 2021).

Limitations illustrated by previous research examining the efficacy of the Smart Paddle[™] include only measuring freestyle with small group samples (Marinho et al., 2022), or examining the device in different water-based sports (Löppönen et al., 2022). This study recruited a reasonable sample of high-performance swimmers due to their ability to maintain swimming pace because of their refined technical ability and training experience. Thus, this sample may have a greater understanding and feel of pace, reflected in the reliability results obtained. This study, unlike other reliability studies (Bartolomeu et al., 2018), explored multiple stroke types to identify whether the Smart Paddle[™] was reliable for use in all strokes, given the varied kinetic and kinematic demands elicited by different strokes (Troup, 1999). Despite these differences, this thesis found that the Smart Paddle[™] produced reliable data for freestyle, butterfly, and backstroke within testing sessions.

Intra-day reliability and inter-day reliability are both important to determine the practical utility of a device. Ensuring reliable results would allow for the integration of this assessment within training to assess and monitor performance. This thesis chose to investigate intra-day reliability as it is more representative of a swimmer's training schedule as they perform either large, volume driven aerobic sets or perform anaerobic sets with many repetitions of high intensity bouts (Hellard et al., 2017; Nugent et al., 2017). Nevertheless, both of these forms of training are structured to perform repeated bouts of swimming with the purpose of maintaining intensity (Hellard et al., 2017; Nugent et al., 2017). To emulate this structure, this thesis prescribed repeated bouts of similar intensities in an intra-day reliability testing procedure. While the intra-day reliability established within this thesis is useful to determine if results are reliable within a session, future research should seek to establish inter-day reliability of the Smart Paddle[™] across varied strokes and intensities.

Previous reliability studies established intensity either by subjective maximum intensity (Bartolomeu et al., 2021; Koga et al., 2022; Santos et al., 2022a; Tsunokawa et al., 2018) or by an arbitrary increasing intensity controlled by the swimmer (Tsunokawa et al., 2019). Both situations are dependent on the condition of the swimmer's physical and mental state during that day as these internal factors could influence swimming intent which could reduce reliability credibility. This study chose to control intensity based off known stroke rate values so to control these variables and minimise effect of human behaviour influencing what maximum intensity could be.

Furthermore, this study investigated reliability at multiple intensities to investigate whether the Smart Paddle[™] can be used exhaustively within training. The excellent reliability observed for the Smart Paddle[™] across multiple intensities and multiple strokes means that these devices can confidentiality be used for training analysis purposes and has value to coaches and practitioners looking to establish objective kinetic and kinematic data within applied environments.

5.2 Validity of the Smart Paddle™

An acknowledgment for this study's validity investigation is that no face validity test was performed. As of the time of writing this thesis, there is no literature investigating the validity of PS or Smart Paddle[™] using face validity, this should be a consideration for future use of Smart Paddle[™] and considered when reading this study's findings. Establishing validity of Smart Paddle[™] was challenging because there is limited comparable data to PS based on the limited data available and from the data, which is available to compare, the analysis is performed over shorter distances in smaller pools which can impact kinetic output results. Furthermore, the tethered swimming method is not an appropriate comparison to PS based on overestimation of kinetic variable values (Samson et al., 2019; Santos et al., 2023, 2021) due to the method calculating force as a whole-body sum whereas PS determine force limb specific (Barbosa et al., 2020; Santos et al., 2021). In addition, due to the nature of the sport environment, research is limited, and this creates challenges to perform direct face validity tests.

This study investigated objective comparison between Smart Paddle[™] and manual stroke rate testing to assess the validity of the Smart Paddle[™]. In addition, construct validity was determined to observe whether similar kinetic relationships existed in this study compared to other literature. Force could not be compared directly, therefore this study used the linear positive relationship between propulsive force and velocity (Borges dos Santos et al., 2013; Seifert et al., 2010, 2004; Troup, 1999) to evaluate whether there were similar relationships of force production in Smart Paddle[™] and stroke specific velocity results in the external literature. Criterion validity tests have been performed with tethered swimming (Nagle Zera et al., 2021) and Smart Paddle[™] (Löppönen et al., 2022), with Smart Paddle[™] eliciting promising results. This study attempts to create an overview of validity as in depth as possible under the constraints of limited comparable data, incomparable methodologies, and the challenging testing environment.

This study investigated the objective comparison for validity between Smart Paddle[™] and manual stroke rate testing to assess validity of Smart Paddle[™] and identified that there was no significant difference between the two methods. The validity of Smart Paddle[™] ability to accurately determine stroke kinematics has been established by this study, thus contributing to the image of Smart Paddle[™] accurate representation of kinetic variable results. An observation that was made for butterfly stroke was the poor correlation of stroke rate at moderate intensity (70%) which can be explained by the prone body position which means at certain speeds the swimmer's legs can sink, unlike freestyle and backstroke that have the body roll element to stay controlled in the water.

This study evaluated discriminative, construct validity by investigating whether there were similar relationships of force production in Smart Paddle[™] and stroke specific velocity results in the external literature. Smart Paddle[™] for freestyle generated the greatest propulsive force output, followed by butterfly and then backstroke. These are similar findings to that of previous research involving velocity (Bartolomeu et al., 2018; Craig and Pendeegast, 1979), suggesting that Smart Paddle[™] could be valid for kinetic analysis based on the comparability of stroke specific kinetic variable findings established in previous literature. Construct validity of the Smart Paddle[™] was further investigated by comparing findings of Smart Paddle[™] to other pressure sensor brands and kinetic variables measuring methodologies. Smart Paddle™ was deemed as valid for the determination of kinetic variables during free swimming performance in high-performance swimmers, identifying that the devices will produce an accurate representation of force measurements in the free-swim phase of swimming performance. Studies identified as comparable for validity testing were studies that used PS to measure force in maximal intensity swimming (Barbosa et al., 2006; Bartolomeu et al., 2018; Takagi et al., 2023). All studies used wired devices whereas this study used wireless Smart Paddle[™]. Testing distance ranged from 16m to 25m unlike the 35m free-swimming tested distance in this study, and all studies identified swimming intensity being maximal on an arbitrary scale and a testing sample of national to regional level swimmers. This study's findings of average force production at high intensities (see

table 1-3) is lower than the majority of results reported elsewhere for freestyle stroke: 34-35N (Bartolomeu et al., 2018), 31-44N (J. Morais et al., 2019), 35-55N. This study produced lower results compared to all other studies for backstroke: 29-31N (Bartolomeu et al., 2018) and butterfly: 33-35N (Bartolomeu et al., 2018), 33-35N (Pereira et al., 2015). For peak force, this study measured kinetic values that were lower (see table 1-3) compared to the majority of prior studies; freestyle: 102-105N (Bartolomeu et al., 2018), 55-74N (J. Morais et al., 2019). Backstroke 87-89N and butterfly 97-107N (Bartolomeu et al., 2018) displayed lower values in this study compared to prior studies. Hand velocity also reported lower values in this study (see table 1) compared to other PS studies 2.3m/s (Tsunokawa et al., 2018).

The overwhelming evidence of this study's findings being lower than prior studies could be because prior studies measured kinetic variables over a shorter distance (16-25m), and this would generate a higher force output because swimmers would have maintained a higher average force production due to reduced measured swimming time. Interestingly, Barbosa et al. (2020) produced similar average force (20-36N) and peak force (61-84N) results to this study when performing a maximum effort swim in a 25m pool. This raises questions such as whether the quality and competitive ability of swimmers are influential to kinetic force outputs. Further investigations of different sample populations using Smart Paddle[™] would further validity discussions. The value of this study testing kinetic variables over a 50m length is that it is more representative of swimming performance as majority of swimming events are competed in 50m pool. Despite kinetic variable results being lower in this study compared to prior research, based on the distance selected for this protocol and the relationships already understood in the literature about force performance over increased distance, the results are justified. In addition, Smart Paddle[™] exhibited common kinetic variable relationships to swimming performance such as positive correlations between swimming velocity and average force, efficiency and hand velocity, and negative correlations with peak force (Alcazar et al., 2019) and impulse (Schilling et al., 2008) further highlighting validity by comparison to other research.

This study has identified Smart Paddle[™] is valid for kinetic variable analysis of multiple swimming strokes and has justified its validity compared to other findings in literature. It should be considered that this study measured performance over a 50m

pool for better performance representation, however other studies measured over shorter distances, therefore consideration of foundational kinetic relationships should be incorporated into the validity results of this study.

5.3 Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle™

Sensitivity of the Smart Paddle[™] was determined by examining differences in kinetic variable outcomes between two significantly different working intensities: high (90%) and low (50%). The Smart Paddle[™] was found to be sensitive for measuring differences in average force, efficiency, and impulse for all strokes between high (90%) and low (50%) intensity bouts. However, peak force produced ambiguous results for backstroke and butterfly, and hand velocity produced ambiguous results for butterfly. The ability of the Smart Paddle[™] to discriminate between different intensities allows for the confident use of these devices for a range of training and testing purposes.

The intensities selected within this thesis, 50% and 90% stroke rates of a second 50m stroke rate of a 100m peak swim performance, were chosen to represent low and high working intensities representative of a swimmer's typical training prescription. In collaboration with coaches of the participant group within this thesis, these intensities represent a form of training usually seen in high-performance swimming, where 50% intensity represents paces of swimming performed in aerobic work and 90% intensity representing the paces of swimming during intensive anaerobic sessions (Hellard et al., 2019; Nugent et al., 2017). Accordingly, the kinetic and kinematic outputs required to produce 50% and 90% intensity bouts should demonstrate observable differences via the Smart Paddle™ technology.

This study analysed kinetic variables over multiple strokes, which is important to determine sensitivity as strokes exhibit different in-water pathways and thus, exhibit different force productions (Troup, 1999). This would also produce differences in kinetic variable measurements that would be significantly different between strokes. For instance, freestyle produced the greatest output for all kinetic variables in this study and similar findings were found in other research where freestyle is identified as being the most energy efficient (Barbosa et al., 2006), with the fastest velocity (Bartolomeu et al., 2018) and greatest in propulsive force production (Takagi et al., 2023; Troup, 1999; Zamparo et al., 2020) of all the strokes. The findings of this study where peak force decreases as swimming intensity increases is as expected and

aligns with past findings in accordance to the force-velocity curve (Alcazar et al., 2019). Impulse decreases with increasing velocity is also expected as past research states when velocity increases causing time in exercise to decrease, so shall impulse decrease with decreased performance time (Schilling et al., 2008).

The findings within this thesis suggest that the Smart Paddle[™] can distinguish between small, significant differences between kinetic variables average force, efficiency, and impulse for freestyle, backstroke and butterfly between high (90%) and low (50%) intensity bouts. In addition, Smart Paddle[™] failed to identify significant differences for peak force between high (90%) and low (50%) intensity bouts in backstroke and butterfly and hand velocity in butterfly. It is important for future practical applications using Smart Paddle[™] for assessment of kinetic variables, to consider the unbalanced distribution of swimmers in stroke groups in this study as it could be influential to observing lower sensitivity results for backstroke and butterfly compared to that of freestyle. Overall, Smart Paddle[™] can be considered sensitive for all kinetic variable measurements in freestyle, all kinetic variable measurements except peak force in backstroke, and some variable in butterfly.

5.4 Potential applications of the Smart Paddle[™] for analysis of swimming performance

The strong intra-day absolute and relative reliability, validity, and sensitivity demonstrated within this thesis endorse the use of the Smart Paddle[™] to be utilised within applied swimming settings to assess and monitor performance across various intensities in freestyle, butterfly, and backstroke. Smart Paddle[™] can be used as a benchmarking tool for training volume, return to sport rehabilitation and performance development. The Smart Paddle[™], as previously mentioned, could be used for training purposes during both technical and capacity focused training sessions at different intensities. The findings of this thesis suggest that Smart Paddle[™] can be used to evaluate technical performance via the observation of kinetic outputs. In training, technical adjustments could be made and assessed using the Smart Paddle[™] can provide immediate feedback and changes to performance to be performed within session, making it more efficient for both athlete and coach for

training developments. For instance, the Smart Paddle[™] could be used to evaluate the impact of breathing side or frequency on kinetic output to investigate whether there is any effect on kinetic output when changing breathing rhythm or side. In addition, another training focus utilising the Smart Paddle[™] could be to identify optimal hand positions on water entry for propulsive force generation. Research thus far states that hand position and orientation upon water entry influences velocity and propulsive force generation (Schleihauf, 1983; Van Houwelingen et al., 2017). Repeated bouts could be performed with the Smart Paddle[™] with slight hand position adjustments to determine which orientation elicits preferred kinetic outcomes. These opportunities afforded by the Smart Paddle[™] demonstrate a creative freedom for both coaches and athletes due to the established confident efficacy of Smart Paddle[™] in this thesis.

As previously mentioned, the Smart Paddle[™] can be used for capacity focused sessions at intensities that target both aerobic and anaerobic energy systems. This highlights a potential use for measuring the impact of fatigue on kinetic variables using the Smart Paddle[™]. It has been established that there is a relationship between stroke kinematics and propulsive force generation during swimming performance (Mathews 2017). Therefore, the Smart Paddle[™] could be used to measure the point whereby force output declines or plateaus during performance. This would be useful to identify from a high-performance perspective as efficiency and the maintenance of propulsive force throughout performance is important for maintaining velocity in a race. Lastly, the ability of the Smart Paddle[™] to accurately and reliably differentiate between the upper limbs highlights a potential use for muscle and joint injury rehabilitation. This is particularly of interest as the upper limbs represent a primary area of injury concern amongst performance-level swimmers (Wanivenhaus et al., 2012).

5.5 Limitations and directions for future research

When designing this study, the challenges of establishing the face validity of the Smart Paddle[™] were identified due to an inability to implement comparable methods simultaneously. Therefore, it would be useful for future research to establish the face validity of Smart Paddle[™] if an appropriate study design can be configured, or construct validity if this study design could be replicated. This thesis also investigated the intra-day reliability of the Smart Paddle[™] over various intensities and swimming strokes. However, this thesis did not establish the inter-day reliability of the Smart Paddle[™]. This should be a consideration for long-term kinetic variable analysis which would be important to determine whether Smart Paddle[™] could be used for monitoring performance progression across a season. Inter-day reliability was not overlooked in this study protocol. However, due to the collaboration with high-performance athletes and coaches during their peak competition season, the assessment of inter-day reliability would have interfered with their training schedule beyond the single testing session required for the present design. A final limitation of this thesis is the unbalanced sample size of participants within each stroke category. The lower sample size for backstroke and butterfly compared to freestyle could have influenced the results obtained in this study.

SECTION 6

CONCLUSION

6.1 Conclusion

The aim of this thesis was to investigate the efficacy of the Smart Paddle[™] PS for measuring kinetic force variables in free-swimming performance of highperformance level swimmers. This study concludes that the Smart Paddle[™] is valid for the determination of accurate kinetic variables. This was determined by the investigation of construct validity, criterion validity, and objective validity in stroke rate. This study identified and acknowledged the validity challenges and developed an overview image of the validity of Smart Paddle[™] to evaluate and support the accuracy of the kinetic results produced from the devices. The findings in this study indicate Smart Paddle[™] is reliable, referencing the strong intra-day absolute and relative reliability identified in this study, demonstrating that Smart Paddle™ can be used for kinetic force analysis in free-swimming performance repeatedly for freestyle, backstroke, and butterfly at a range of intensities (low – high). This study identified that Smart Paddle[™] can identify confidently small significant differences in all kinetic variables between low and high intensities for freestyle but not as confidentially for peak force and hand velocity in backstroke and butterfly, identifying that Smart Paddle[™] is sensitive for all strokes measuring average force, impulse and efficiency.

This thesis has identified that PS may be the preferred choice for in-water force analysis due to its ability to measure force between limbs rather than sum of whole body. There have been mixed findings of the use of wired external devices on PS and whether it causes an impairment to swimming performance (Koga et al., 2022; Santos et al., 2022b; Yeater et al., 1981), coming to the conclusion that wireless devices would be preferred to wired to minimise performance interference. The Smart Paddle[™] eliminates the issue of wired connections as all data collection and storage is collected, processed and stored wirelessly, making this ideal analysis protocol compared to other prior methodologies.

Overall, Smart Paddle[™] can confidently be used for practical applications in training for kinetic analysis in freestyle, backstroke and butterfly over a range of

training intensities, providing coaches and practitioners with creative freedom for kinetic analysis purposes in high-performance swimming analysis using the Smart Paddle™.

SECTION 7 REFERENCES

- Abou-Dest, A., Albinet, C.T., Boucard, G., Audiffren, M., 2012. Swimming as a Positive Moderator of Cognitive Aging: A Cross-Sectional Study with a Multitask Approach. Journal of Aging Research 2012, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/273185
- Alcazar, J., Csapo, R., Ara, I., Alegre, L.M., 2019. On the Shape of the Force-Velocity Relationship in Skeletal Muscles: The Linear, the Hyperbolic, and the Double-Hyperbolic. Front. Physiol. 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00769

Amaro, N., Marinho, D.A., Batalha, N., Marques, M.C., Morouço, P., 2014. Reliability of Tethered Swimming Evaluation in Age Group Swimmers. J Hum Kinet 41, 155–162. https://doi.org/10.2478/hukin-2014-0043

Amaro, N.M., Morouço, P.G., Marques, M.C., Fernandes, R.J., Marinho, D.A., 2017. Biomechanical and bioenergetical evaluation of swimmers using fully-tethered swimming: A qualitative review. Journal of Human Sport and Exercise 12, 1346–1360. https://doi.org/10.14198/jhse.2017.124.20

Atkinson, G., Nevill, A.M., 1998. Statistical Methods For Assessing Measurement Error (Reliability) in Variables Relevant to Sports Medicine. Sports Med 26, 217–238. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-199826040-00002

Barbosa, T., Fernandes, R., Keskinen, K.L., Colaço, P., Cardoso, C., Silva, J., Vilas-Boas, J.P., 2006. Evaluation of the Energy Expenditure in Competitive Swimming Strokes. International journal of sports medicine 27, 894–9. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-923776

Barbosa, T., Marinho, D., Costa, M., Silva, A.J., 2011. Biomechanics of Competitive Swimming Strokes [WWW Document]. https://doi.org/10.5772/19553

 Barbosa, T.M., Barbosa, A.C., Simbaña Escobar, D., Mullen, G.J., Cossor, J.M., Hodierne, R., Arellano, R., Mason, B.R., 2021. The role of the biomechanics analyst in swimming training and competition analysis. Sports Biomechanics 0, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2021.1960417

Barbosa, T.M., Fernandes, R.J., Keskinen, K.L., Vilas-Boas, J.P., 2008. The influence of stroke mechanics into energy cost of elite swimmers. Eur J Appl Physiol 103, 139–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-008-0676-z

Barbosa, T.M., Yam, J.W., Lum, D., Balasekaran, G., Marinho, D.A., 2020. Arm-pull thrust in human swimming and the effect of post-activation potentiation. Sci Rep 10, 8464. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-65494-z

Barry, L., Lyons, M., McCreesh, K., Powell, C., Comyns, T., 2022. International survey of training load monitoring practices in competitive swimming: How, what and why not? Physical Therapy in Sport 53, 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ptsp.2021.11.005

Bartolomeu, R., Cunha Rodrigues, P.H., Santos, C., Costa, M., Barbosa, T., 2021. Is There Any Effect of Symmetry on Velocity of the Four Swimming Strokes? Symmetry 14, 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/sym14010012

Bartolomeu, R.F., Costa, M.J., Barbosa, T.M., 2018. Contribution of limbs' actions to the four competitive swimming strokes: a nonlinear approach. J Sports Sci 36, 1836–1845. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2018.1423608

Berger, M.A.M., de Groot, G., Hollander, A.P., 1995. Hydrodynamic drag and lift forces on human hand/arm models. Journal of Biomechanics 28, 125–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9290(94)00053-7

Bixler, B., Pease, D., Fairhurst, F., 2007. The accuracy of computational fluid dynamics analysis of the passive drag of a male swimmer. Sports Biomechanics 6, 81–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763140601058581

- Bixler, B., Riewald, S., 2002. Analysis of a swimmer's hand and arm in steady flow conditions using computational fluid dynamics. Journal of Biomechanics 35, 713–717. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9290(01)00246-9
- Borges dos Santos, K., Pereira, G., Papoti, M., Bento, P., Rodacki, A., 2013. Propulsive Force Asymmetry during Tethered-Swimming. International journal of sports medicine 34. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1327575
- Born, D.-P., Kuger, J., Polach, M., Romann, M., 2021. Turn Fast and Win: The Importance of Acyclic Phases in Top-Elite Female Swimmers. Sports (Basel) 9, 122. https://doi.org/10.3390/sports9090122
- Butterfield, J., Tallent, J., Patterson, S.D., Jeffries, O., Howe, L., Waldron, M., 2020. The validity of a head-worn inertial sensor for measurements of swimming performance. Movement and Sport Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1051/sm/2019027
- Callaway, A., 2014. Quantification of performance analysis factors in front crawl swimming using micro electronics: a data rich system for swimming. (doctoral). Bournemouth University.
- Callaway, A.J., 2015. Measuring Kinematic Variables in Front Crawl Swimming Using Accelerometers: A Validation Study. Sensors (Basel) 15, 11363–11386. https://doi.org/10.3390/s150511363
- Castagna, C., Ganzetti, M., Ditroilo, M., Giovannelli, M., Rocchetti, A., Manzi, V., 2013. Concurrent Validity of Vertical Jump Performance Assessment Systems. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 27, 761. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0b013e31825dbcc5
- Ceseracciu, E., Sawacha, Z., Fantozzi, S., Cortesi, M., Gatta, G., Corazza, S., Cobelli, C., 2011a. Markerless analysis of front crawl swimming. Journal of Biomechanics 44, 2236–2242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2011.06.003
- Ceseracciu, E., Sawacha, Z., Fantozzi, S., Cortesi, M., Gatta, G., Corazza, S., Cobelli, C., 2011b. Markerless analysis of front crawl swimming. Journal of Biomechanics 44, 2236–2242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2011.06.003
- Chainok, P., Machado, L., de Jesus, K., Abraldes, J.A., Borgonovo-Santos, M., Fernandes, R.J., Vilas-Boas, J.P., 2021. Backstroke to Breaststroke Turning Performance in Age-Group Swimmers: Hydrodynamic Characteristics and Pull-Out Strategy. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 18, 1858. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18041858
- Chollet, D., Delaplace, C., Pelayo, P., Tourny, C., Sidney, M., 1997. Stroking Characteristic Variations in the 100-M Freestyle for Male Swimmers of Differing Skill. Percept Mot Skills 85, 167–177. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1997.85.1.167
- Clément, J., Charbonneau, M., Thompson, M., 2021. Instantaneous velocity estimation for the four swimming strokes using a 3-axis accelerometer: Validation on paralympic athletes. Journal of Biomechanics 117, 110261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2021.110261
- Cohen, J., 1977. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. Elsevier Science & Technology, San Diego, UNITED STATES.
- Cortesi, M., Di Michele, R., Fantozzi, S., Bartolomei, S., Gatta, G., 2021. Arm-Stroke Descriptor Variability during 200-m Front Crawl Swimming. Sensors (Basel) 21, 324. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21020324
- Cortesi, M., Giovanardi, A., Gatta, G., Mangia, A.L., Bartolomei, S., Fantozzi, S., 2019. Inertial Sensors in Swimming: Detection of Stroke Phases through 3D Wrist Trajectory. J Sports Sci Med 18, 438–447.
- Cossor, J., Slawson, S., Shillabeer, B., Conway, P., West, A., 2011. ARE LAND TESTS A GOOD PREDICTOR OF SWIM START PERFORMANCE? ISBS - Conference Proceedings Archive.
- Craig, A.B.J., Pendeegast, D.R., 1979. Relationships of stroke rate, distance per stroke, and velocity in competitive swimming. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise 11, 278.
- Cuenca-Fernández, F., Boullosa, D., López-Belmonte, Ó., Gay, A., Ruiz-Navarro, J.J., Arellano, R., 2022. Swimming Warm-Up and Beyond: Dryland Protocols and Their Related Mechanisms—A Scoping Review. Sports Med - Open 8, 120. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-022-00514-y

- Dadashi, F., Crettenand, F., Millet, G.P., Aminian, K., 2012. Front-Crawl Instantaneous Velocity Estimation Using a Wearable Inertial Measurement Unit. Sensors (Basel) 12, 12927–12939. https://doi.org/10.3390/s121012927
- de Jesus, Karla, de Jesus, Kelly, Fernandes, R.J., Vilas-Boas, J.P., Sanders, R., 2014. The Backstroke Swimming Start: State of the Art. J Hum Kinet 42, 27–40. https://doi.org/10.2478/hukin-2014-0058
- de Jesus, Karla, Mourão, L., Roesler, H., Viriato, N., de Jesus, Kelly, Vaz, M., Fernandes, R., Vilas-Boas, J.P., 2019. 3D Device for Forces in Swimming Starts and Turns. Applied Sciences 9, 3559. https://doi.org/10.3390/app9173559
- Deschodt, V.J., 1996. Relationships between the three coordinates of the upper limb joints with swimming velocity [WWW Document].
- Deschodt, V.J., Arsac, L.M., Rouard, A.H., 1999. Relative contribution of arms and legs in humans to propulsion in 25-m sprint front-crawl swimming. Eur J Appl Physiol 80, 192–199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004210050581
- Di Prampero, P.E., Pendergast, D.R., Wilson, D.W., Rennie, D.W., 1974. Energetics of swimming in man. Journal of Applied Physiology 37, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1974.37.1.1
- Didier, C., Pelayo, P., Tourny, C., Sidney, M., 1996. Comparative analysis of 100m and 200m events in the four strokes in top level swimmers. Journal of Human Movement Studies 31, 25–37.
- Dingley, A.A., Pyne, D.B., Youngson, J., Burkett, B., 2015. Effectiveness of a Dry-Land Resistance Training Program on Strength, Power, and Swimming Performance in Paralympic Swimmers. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 29, 619–626. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.000000000000684
- Dominguez-Castells, R., Izquierdo, M., Arellano, R., 2013. An Updated Protocol to Assess Arm Swimming Power in Front Crawl. Int J Sports Med 34, 324–329. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1323721
- Dopsaj, M., Matkovi, I., Thanopoulos, V., Oki, T., 2004. RELIABILITY AND VALIDITY OF BASIC KINEMATICS AND MECHANICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF PULLING FORCE IN SWIMMERS MEASURED BY THE METHOD OF TETHERED SWIMMING WITH MAXIMUM INTENSITY OF 60 SECONDS UDC 797.
- Fantozzi, S., Coloretti, V., Piacentini, M.F., Quagliarotti, C., Bartolomei, S., Gatta, G., Cortesi, M., 2022. Integrated Timing of Stroking, Breathing, and Kicking in Front-Crawl Swimming: A Novel Stroke-by-Stroke Approach Using Wearable Inertial Sensors. Sensors (Basel) 22, 1419. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22041419
- Fernandes, A., Goethel, M., Marinho, D.A., Mezêncio, B., Vilas-Boas, J.P., Fernandes, R.J., 2022.
 Velocity Variability and Performance in Backstroke in Elite and Good-Level Swimmers. Int J Environ Res Public Health 19, 6744. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19116744
- Fischer, S., Kibele, A., 2016. The biomechanical structure of swim start performance. Sports Biomechanics 15, 397–408. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2016.1171893
- Formosa, D., Toussaint, H., Mason, B., Burkett, B., 2012. Comparative Analysis of Active Drag Using the MAD System and an Assisted Towing Method in Front Crawl Swimming. Journal of applied biomechanics 28, 746–50. https://doi.org/10.1123/jab.28.6.746
- Gatta, G., Cortesi, M., Zamparo, P., 2016. The Relationship between Power Generated by Thrust and Power to Overcome Drag in Elite Short Distance Swimmers. PLOS ONE 11, e0162387. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0162387
- Gonjo, T., Narita, K., McCabe, C., Fernandes, R.J., Vilas-Boas, J.P., Takagi, H., Sanders, R., 2020. Front Crawl Is More Efficient and Has Smaller Active Drag Than Backstroke Swimming: Kinematic and Kinetic Comparison Between the Two Techniques at the Same Swimming Speeds. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8, 570657. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.570657
- Gonjo, T., Olstad, B.H., 2021. Race Analysis in Competitive Swimming: A Narrative Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 18, 69. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18010069

- Gonjo, T., Olstad, B.H., 2020. Start and Turn Performances of Competitive Swimmers in Sprint Butterfly Swimming. J Sports Sci Med 19, 727–734.
- Hamidi Rad, M., Aminian, K., Gremeaux, V., Massé, F., Dadashi, F., 2021. Swimming Phase-Based Performance Evaluation Using a Single IMU in Main Swimming Techniques. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 9, 793302. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2021.793302
- Havriluk, R., n.d. Validation of a Criterion Measure for Swimming Technique (biomechanics).
- Hazrati, P., Sinclair, P.J., Ferdinands, R.E., Mason, B.R., 2016. Reliability of estimating active drag in swimming using the assisted towing method with fluctuating speed. Sports Biomechanics 15, 283–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2016.1161064
- Hellard, P., Avalos-Fernandes, M., Lefort, G., Pla, R., Mujika, I., Toussaint, J.-F., Pyne, D.B., 2019. Elite Swimmers' Training Patterns in the 25 Weeks Prior to Their Season's Best Performances: Insights Into Periodization From a 20-Years Cohort. Front Physiol 10, 363. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00363
- Hellard, P., Scordia, C., Avalos, M., Mujika, I., Pyne, D.B., 2017. Modelling of optimal training load patterns during the 11 weeks preceding major competition in elite swimmers. Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab. 42, 1106–1117. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2017-0180
- Hermosilla, F., Sanders, R., González-Mohíno, F., Yustres, I., González-Rave, J.M., 2021. Effects of Dry-Land Training Programs on Swimming Turn Performance: A Systematic Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 18, 9340. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18179340
- Hermosilla, F., Yustres, I., Psycharakis, S., Santos del Cerro, J., González-Mohíno, F., González-Rave, J.M., 2022. Which variables may affect underwater glide performance after a swimming start? European Journal of Sport Science 22, 1141–1148. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2021.1944322
- Hollander, A.P., de Groot, G., van Ingen Schenau, G.J., Toussaint, H.M., de Best, H., Peeters, W., Meulemans, A., Schreurs, A.W., 1986. Measurement of active drag during crawl arm stroke swimming. Journal of Sports Sciences 4, 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640418608732094
- Holmer, I., 1992. Swimming Physiology. The Annals of physiological anthropology 11, 269–276. https://doi.org/10.2114/ahs1983.11.269
- Hopkins, W.G., 2000. Measures of reliability in sports medicine and science. Sports Med 30, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200030010-00001
- IOC International Olympic Committee | Olympics.com [WWW Document], n.d. URL https://olympics.com/ioc (accessed 8.27.24).
- Joaquim Baratto de Azevedo, O., Knierim Correia, C., Soares Pereira, G., Prado, L.S., Roesler, H., Pereira, S.M., Ruschel, C., 2021. Effect of three different set-up conditions on the propulsive force measures, reliability, and ecological validity during front crawl tethered-swimming. International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport 21, 1081–1100. https://doi.org/10.1080/24748668.2021.1974182
- Jones, Julian V, Pyne, D.B., Haff, G.G., Newton, R.U., 2018. Comparison of ballistic and strength training on swimming turn and dry-land leg extensor characteristics in elite swimmers. International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching 13, 262–269. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747954117726017
- Jones, Julian V., Pyne, D.B., Haff, G.G., Newton, R.U., 2018. Comparison Between Elite and Subelite Swimmers on Dry Land and Tumble Turn Leg Extensor Force-Time Characteristics. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 32, 1762. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000002041
- Karpovich, P.V., Pestrecov, K., 1939. Mechanical work and efficiency in swimming crawl and back strokes. Arbeitsphysiologie 10, 504–514. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02012167

- Kauhanen, A., 2020. A Data-Driven Approach to Analyzing & Correcting Technique in Elite Swimmers [WWW Document]. SimpliFaster. URL https://simplifaster.com/articles/data-analysis-eliteswim-technique/ (accessed 11.2.22).
- Kawasaki, T., Sullivan, C.V., Ozoe, N., Higaki, H., Kawasaki, J., 2011. A long-term, comprehensive exercise program that incorporates a variety of physical activities improved the blood pressure, lipid and glucose metabolism, arterial stiffness, and balance of middle-aged and elderly Japanese. Hypertens Res 34, 1059–1066. https://doi.org/10.1038/hr.2011.81
- Kjendlie, P.-L., Thorsvald, K., 2005. A tethered swimming power test is highly reliable. Port J Sport Sci 6.
- Koga, D., Tsunokawa, T., Sengoku, Y., Homoto, K., Nakazono, Y., Takagi, H., 2022. Relationship Between Hand Kinematics, Hand Hydrodynamic Pressure Distribution and Hand Propulsive Force in Sprint Front Crawl Swimming. Frontiers in Sports and Active Living 4.
- Koo, T.K., Li, M.Y., 2016. A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. J Chiropr Med 15, 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012
- Köroglu, M., Yigiter, K., 2016. Effects of Swimming Training on Stress Levels of the Students Aged 11-13. Universal Journal of Educational Research 4, 1881–1884.
- Lahart, I.M., Metsios, G.S., 2018. Chronic Physiological Effects of Swim Training Interventions in Non-Elite Swimmers: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sports Med 48, 337–359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0805-0
- Lang, M., Light, R., 2010. Interpreting and Implementing the Long Term Athlete Development Model: English Swimming Coaches' Views on the (Swimming) LTAD in Practice. International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching 5, 389–402. https://doi.org/10.1260/1747-9541.5.3.389
- Lätt, E., Jürimäe, J., Mäestu, J., Purge, P., Rämson, R., Haljaste, K., Keskinen, K.L., Rodriguez, F.A., Jürimäe, T., 2010. Physiological, Biomechanical and Anthropometrical Predictors of Sprint Swimming Performance in Adolescent Swimmers. J Sports Sci Med 9, 398–404.
- Lee, J.B., Ohgi, Y., James, D.A., 2012. Sensor fusion: let's enhance the performance of performance enhancement. Procedia Engineering, ENGINEERING OF SPORT CONFERENCE 2012 34, 795– 800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2012.04.136
- Ling, B.H., Blanksby, B., Elliott, B., McElroy, G.K., 2004. Force-time characteristics of the butterfly turns by age-group swimmers. Journal of Human Movement Studies 47, 429–451.
- Löppönen, A., Vänttinen, T., Haverinen, M., Linnamo, V., 2022. The Effect of Paddle Stroke Variables Measured by Trainesense SmartPaddle[®] on the Velocity of the Kayak. Sensors 22, 938. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22030938
- Loturco, I., Barbosa, A.C., Nocentini, R.K., Pereira, L.A., Kobal, R., Kitamura, K., Abad, C.C.C., Figueiredo, P., Nakamura, F.Y., 2016. A Correlational Analysis of Tethered Swimming, Swim Sprint Performance and Dry-land Power Assessments. Int J Sports Med 37, 211–218. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1559694
- Magalhaes, F.A. de, Vannozzi, G., Gatta, G., Fantozzi, S., 2015. Wearable inertial sensors in swimming motion analysis: a systematic review. Journal of Sports Sciences 33, 732–745. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2014.962574
- Magel, J.R., 2013. Propelling Force Measured during Tethered Swimming in the Four Competitive Swimming Styles. Research Quarterly. American Association for Health, Physical Education and Recreation.
- Marinho, D.A., Barbosa, T.M., Auvinen, A., Lopes, T., Silva, A.J., Morais, J.E., 2022. Smartpaddle as a New Tool for Monitoring Swimmers' Kinematic and Kinetic Variables in Real Time. The Open Sports Sciences Journal 15. https://doi.org/10.2174/1875399X-v15-e221026-2022-11
- Marinho, D.A., Barbosa, T.M., Neiva, H.P., Silva, A.J., Morais, J.E., 2020. Comparison of the Start, Turn and Finish Performance of Elite Swimmers in 100 m and 200 m Races. J Sports Sci Med 19, 397–407.

Marinho, D.A., Barbosa, T.M., Reis, V.M., Kjendlie, P.L., Alves, F.B., Vilas-Boas, J.P., Machado, L., Silva, A.J., Rouboa, A.I., 2010. Swimming Propulsion Forces Are Enhanced by a Small Finger Spread. Journal of Applied Biomechanics 26, 87–92. https://doi.org/10.1123/jab.26.1.87

- Martin Bland, J., Altman, DouglasG., 1986. STATISTICAL METHODS FOR ASSESSING AGREEMENT BETWEEN TWO METHODS OF CLINICAL MEASUREMENT. The Lancet, Originally published as Volume 1, Issue 8476 327, 307–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(86)90837-8
- Mason, B., Mackintosh, C., Pease, D., 2012. THE DEVELOPMENT OF AN ANALYSIS SYSTEM TO ASSIST IN THE CORRECTION OF INEFFICIENCIES IN STARTS AND TURNS FOR ELITE COMPETITIVE SWIMMING. ISBS - Conference Proceedings Archive.
- Mazzeo, R.S., Tanaka, H., 2001. Exercise Prescription for the Elderly. Sports Med 31, 809–818. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200131110-00003
- Mische Lawson, L., D'Adamo, J., Campbell, K., Hermreck, B., Holz, S., Moxley, J., Nance, K., Nolla, M., Travis, A., 2019. A Qualitative Investigation of Swimming Experiences of Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders and Their Families. Clin Med Insights Pediatr 13, 1179556519872214. https://doi.org/10.1177/1179556519872214
- Mooney, R., Corley, G., Godfrey, A., Quinlan, L.R., ÓLaighin, G., 2016. Inertial Sensor Technology for Elite Swimming Performance Analysis: A Systematic Review. Sensors 16, 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/s16010018
- Morais, J., Marques, M.C., Rodríguez-Rosell, D., Barbosa, T.M., Marinho, D., 2019. Relationship between thrust, anthropometrics, and dry-land strength in a national junior swimming team. The Physician and Sportsmedicine 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913847.2019.1693240
- Morais, J.E., Marinho, D.A., Arellano, R., Barbosa, T.M., 2019. Start and turn performances of elite sprinters at the 2016 European Championships in swimming. Sports Biomechanics 18, 100– 114. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2018.1435713
- Morais, J.E., Oliveira, J.P., Sampaio, T., Barbosa, T.M., 2022. Wearables in Swimming for Real-Time Feedback: A Systematic Review. Sensors 22, 3677. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22103677
- Morais, J.E., Silva, A.J., Marinho, D.A., Lopes, V.P., Barbosa, T.M., 2017. Determinant Factors of Long-Term Performance Development in Young Swimmers. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 12, 198– 205. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijspp.2015-0420
- Morouço, P., Keskinen, K.L., Vilas-Boas, J.P., Fernandes, R.J., 2011. Relationship between tethered forces and the four swimming techniques performance. J Appl Biomech 27, 161–169. https://doi.org/10.1123/jab.27.2.161
- Morouço, P.G., Marinho, D.A., Keskinen, K.L., Badillo, J.J., Marques, M.C., 2014. Tethered Swimming Can Be Used to Evaluate Force Contribution for Short-Distance Swimming Performance. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 28, 3093. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0000000000000509
- Mosterd, W.L., Jongbloed, J., 1964. Analysis of the stroke of highly trained swimmers. Int. Z. Angew. Physiol. Einschl. Arbeitsphysiol. 20, 288–293. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00697021
- Mourão, L., de Jesus, K., Roesler, H., Machado, L.J., Fernandes, R.J., Vilas-Boas, J.P., Vaz, M.A.P., 2015. Effective Swimmer's Action during the Grab Start Technique. PLoS One 10, e0123001. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123001
- Nagle Zera, J., Nagle, E.F., Nagai, T., Lovalekar, M., Abt, J.P., Lephart, S.M., 2021. Tethered Swimming Test: Reliability and the Association With Swimming Performance and Land-Based Anaerobic Performance. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 35, 212–220. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000002501
- Nicol, E., Ball, K., Tor, E., 2021. The biomechanics of freestyle and butterfly turn technique in elite swimmers. Sports Biomechanics 20, 444–457. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2018.1561930
- Nugent, F.J., Comyns, T.M., Burrows, E., Warrington, G.D., 2017. Effects of Low-Volume, High-Intensity Training on Performance in Competitive Swimmers: A Systematic Review. The

Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 31, 837. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.000000000001583

- Pereira, G.S., Schut, G.R., Ruschel, C., Roesler, H., Pereira, S.M., 2015. Simetria da força propulsiva gerada pelas mãos durante o nado borboleta. Rev. bras. cineantropom. desempenho hum. 17, 704–712. https://doi.org/10.5007/1980-0037.2015v17n6p704
- Peter V. Karpovich M. D., M.P.E., 2013. Water Resistance in Swimming. Research Quarterly. American Physical Education Association.
- Peterson Silveira, R., Stergiou, P., Carpes, F.P., Castro, F.A. de S., Katz, L., Stefanyshyn, D.J., 2017. Validity of a portable force platform for assessing biomechanical parameters in three different tasks. Sports Biomechanics 16, 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2016.1213875
- Petrescu, S., Piţigoi, G., Păunescu, M., 2014. The Effects of Practicing Swimming on the Psychological Tone in Adulthood. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 5th World Conference on Psychology, Counseling and Guidance, WCPCG-2014, 1-3 May 2014, Dubrovnik, Croatia 159, 74–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.12.331
- Pla, R., Ledanois, T., Simbana, E.D., Aubry, A., Tranchard, B., Toussaint, J.-F., Sedeaud, A., Seifert, L., 2021. Spatial-temporal variables for swimming coaches: A comparison study between video and TritonWear sensor. International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching 16, 1271–1280. https://doi.org/10.1177/17479541211013755
- Potdevin, F.J., Alberty, M.E., Chevutschi, A., Pelayo, P., Sidney, M.C., 2011. Effects of a 6-Week Plyometric Training Program on Performances in Pubescent Swimmers. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 25, 80–86. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181fef720
- Psycharakis, S.G., Paradisis, G.P., Zacharogiannis, E., 2011. Assessment of accuracy, reliability and force measurement errors for a tethered swimming apparatus. International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport 11, 410–416. https://doi.org/10.1080/24748668.2011.11868560
- Puel, F., Morlier, J., Avalos, M., Mesnard, M., Cid, M., Hellard, P., 2012. 3D kinematic and dynamic analysis of the front crawl tumble turn in elite male swimmers. Journal of Biomechanics 45, 510–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2011.11.043
- Rakovic, E., Paulsen, G., Helland, C., Haugen, T., Eriksrud, O., 2020. Validity and reliability of a motorized sprint resistance device. The Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research Online ahead of print.
- Rosimini, C., 2003. Benefits of Swim Training for Children and Adolescents with Asthma. Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners 15, 247–252. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-7599.2003.tb00394.x
- Samson, M., Monnet, T., Bernard, A., Lacouture, P., David, L., 2019. Comparative study between fully tethered and free swimming at different paces of swimming in front crawl. Sports Biomechanics 18, 571–586. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2018.1443492
- Sanders, R.H., 1999. Hydrodynamic Characteristics of a Swimmer's Hand. Journal of Applied Biomechanics 15, 3–26. https://doi.org/10.1123/jab.15.1.3
- Santos, C.C., Garrido, N.D., Cuenca-Fernández, F., Marinho, D.A., Costa, M.J., 2023. Performance Tiers within a Competitive Age Group of Young Swimmers Are Characterized by Different Kinetic and Kinematic Behaviors. Sensors 23, 5113. https://doi.org/10.3390/s23115113
- Santos, C.C., Marinho, D.A., Costa, M.J., 2022a. Reliability of using a pressure sensor system to measure in-water force in young competitive swimmers. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 10, 903753. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2022.903753
- Santos, C.C., Marinho, D.A., Costa, M.J., 2022b. The Mechanical and Efficiency Constraints When Swimming Front Crawl with the Aquanex System. J Hum Kinet 84, 166–173. https://doi.org/10.2478/hukin-2022-0090

- Santos, C.C., Marinho, D.A., Neiva, H.P., Costa, M.J., 2021. Propulsive forces in human competitive swimming: a systematic review on direct assessment methods. Sports Biomechanics 0, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2021.1953574
- Schilling, B.K., Falvo, M.J., Chiu, L.Z.F., 2008. Force-Velocity, Impulse-Momentum Relationships: Implications for Efficacy of Purposefully Slow Resistance Training. J Sports Sci Med 7, 299– 304.
- Schleihauf, R., 1983. Three-Dimensional Analysis of Hand Prpoulsion in the Sprint Front Crawl Stroke [WWW Document].
- Schleihauf, R.E., 1979. A hydrodynamic analysis of swimming propulsion [WWW Document].
- Schober, P., Boer, C., Schwarte, L.A., 2018. Correlation Coefficients: Appropriate Use and Interpretation. Anesthesia & Analgesia 126, 1763.

https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.00000000002864

- Scott, M.T.U., Scott, T.J., Kelly, V.G., 2016. The Validity and Reliability of Global Positioning Systems in Team Sport: A Brief Review. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 30, 1470–1490. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000001221
- Seifert, L., Chollet, D., Bardy, B., 2004. Effect of swimming velocity on arm coordination in the front crawl: a dynamic analysis. Journal of Sports Sciences 22, 651–660. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410310001655787
- Seifert, L., Chollet, D., Chatard, J.C., 2007. Kinematic Changes during a 100-m Front Crawl: Effects of Performance Level and Gender. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise 39, 1784. https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.0b013e3180f62f38
- Seifert, L., Toussaint, H.M., Alberty, M., Schnitzler, C., Chollet, D., 2010. Arm coordination, power, and swim efficiency in national and regional front crawl swimmers. Human Movement Science 29, 426–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2009.11.003
- Soncin, R., Mezêncio, B., Ferreira, J.C., Rodrigues, S.A., Huebner, R., Serrão, J.C., Szmuchrowski, L., 2017. Determination of a quantitative parameter to evaluate swimming technique based on the maximal tethered swimming test. Sports Biomechanics 16, 248–257. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2016.1231836
- Stager, J.M., Tanner, D.A., 2008. The Handbook of Sports Medicine and Science: Swimming. John Wiley & Sons.
- Stamm, A., James, D.A., Thiel, D.V., 2013. Velocity profiling using inertial sensors for freestyle swimming. Sports Eng 16, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12283-012-0107-6
- Takagi, H., Nakashima, M., Sengoku, Y., Tsunokawa, T., Koga, D., Narita, K., Kudo, S., Sanders, R., Gonjo, T., 2023. How do swimmers control their front crawl swimming velocity? Current knowledge and gaps from hydrodynamic perspectives. Sports Biomechanics 22, 1552–1571. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2021.1959946
- Tanaka, H., Seals, D.R., 1997. Age and gender interactions in physiological functional capacity: insight from swimming performance. J Appl Physiol (1985) 82, 846–851. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1997.82.3.846
- Thng, S., Pearson, S., Rathbone, E., Keogh, J.W.L., 2020. The prediction of swim start performance based on squat jump force-time characteristics. PeerJ 8, e9208. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.9208
- Toussaint, H.M., Carol, A., Kranenborg, H., Truijens, M.J., 2006. Effect of Fatigue on Stroking Characteristics in an Arms-Only 100-m Front-Crawl Race. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise 38, 1635. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000230209.53333.31
- Toussaint, H.M., Roos, P.E., Kolmogorov, S., 2004. The determination of drag in front crawl swimming. Journal of Biomechanics 37, 1655–1663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2004.02.020
- Troup, J.P., 1999. THE PHYSIOLOGY AND BIOMECHANICS OF COMPETITIVE SWIMMING. Clinics in Sports Medicine 18, 267–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-5919(05)70143-5

- Tsunokawa, T., Mankyu, H., Takagi, H., Ogita, F., 2019. The effect of using paddles on hand propulsive forces and Froude efficiency in arm-stroke-only front-crawl swimming at various velocities. Human Movement Science 64, 378–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2019.03.007
- Tsunokawa, T., Tsuno, T., Mankyu, H., Takagi, H., Ogita, F., 2018. The effect of paddles on pressure and force generation at the hand during front crawl. Human Movement Science 57, 409–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2017.10.002
- Van Houwelingen, J., Schreven, S., Smeets, J.B.J., Clercx, H.J.H., Beek, P.J., 2017. Effective propulsion in swimming: Grasping the hydrodynamics of hand and arm movements. Journal of Applied Biomechanics 33, 87–100. https://doi.org/10.1123/jab.2016-0064
- Vantorre, J., Chollet, D., Seifert, L., 2014. Biomechanical Analysis of the Swim-Start: A Review. J Sports Sci Med 13, 223–231.
- Wang, J.-S., Hung, W.-P., 2009. The effects of a swimming intervention for children with asthma. Respirology 14, 838–842. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1843.2009.01567.x
- Wanivenhaus, F., Fox, A.J.S., Chaudhury, S., Rodeo, S.A., 2012. Epidemiology of Injuries and Prevention Strategies in Competitive Swimmers. Sports Health 4, 246–251. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738112442132
- Wei, T., Mark, R., Hutchison, S., 2014. The Fluid Dynamics of Competitive Swimming. Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics 46, 547–565. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-fluid-011212-140658
- West, D.J., Owen, N.J., Cunningham, D.J., Cook, C.J., Kilduff, L.P., 2011. Strength and Power Predictors of Swimming Starts in International Sprint Swimmers. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 25, 950. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181c8656f
- Wong, A.M.K., Chou, S.-W., Huang, S.-C., Lan, C., Chen, H.-C., Hong, W.-H., Chen, C.P.C., Pei, Y.-C.,
 2011. Does different exercise have the same effect of health promotion for the elderly?
 Comparison of training-specific effect of Tai Chi and swimming on motor control. Archives of
 Gerontology and Geriatrics 53, e133–e137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2010.07.009
- Yeater, R.A., Martin, R.B., White, M.K., Gilson, K.H., 1981. Tethered swimming forces in the crawl, breast and back strokes and their relationship to competitive performance. Journal of Biomechanics 14, 527–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9290(81)90002-6
- Zacca, R., Azevedo, R., Chainok, P., Vilas-Boas, J.P., Castro, F.A. de S., Pyne, D.B., Fernandes, R.J., 2020. Monitoring Age-Group Swimmers Over a Training Macrocycle: Energetics, Technique, and Anthropometrics. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 34, 818. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000002762
- Zamparo, P., Cortesi, M., Gatta, G., 2020. The energy cost of swimming and its determinants. Eur J Appl Physiol 120, 41–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-019-04270-y